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BOUNDARIES

The property bounded by a Tine beginning at the northeast corner of the
intersection ot Sixth Avenue and West 23rd Street, extending northerly
along the eastern curbline of S$ixth Avenue, easterly and northerly along
the northern and western property lines of 71 West 23rd Street (a/k/a 46-54
West 24th Street a/k/a 716-722 Sixth Avenue), easterly along the southern
curbline of West 24th Street, southeasterly along the western curbline of
Broadway, southeasterly across Fifth Avenue, southeasterly along the
western curbline of Broadway, easterly across Broadway, easterly along the
northern property 1ine of 928-930 Broadway (a/k/a 17 East - 21st  Street),
easterly along the northern property lTines of 19 through 33-39 East 21st
Street, southerly along the eastern property Tine of 33-39 East 2ist
Street, southerly across tast 21st Street, easterly along the southern
curbline of East 21st Street, southerly, westerly and southerly along the
eastern, southern, and eastern property Tines of 48-52 East 2ist Street
(a/k/a 48 East 20th Street), southerly across East 20th Street, easterly
along the southern curbline of East 20th Street, southerly along the
sastern property 1ing of 42-48 East 20th Street, westerly along the
southern property  1Tine of 42-48 East 20th Street, southerly along the
sastern property line of 43-45 East 19th Street, westerly along the
northern curbline of East 19th Street, southerly across East 19th Street,
southerly along the eastern property line of 40-42 East 18th Street,
easterly along the northern property 1ine of 43 East 18th Street, southerly
along part of the esastern property line of 43 East 18th Strest, easterly
along the northern property line of 45 East 18th Street, southerly along
the eastern property line of 45 East 18th Street, westerly along the
northern  curbline of East 18th Street, southerly across East 18th Street,
southerly along the eastern property line of 860 Broadway (a/k/a 27-28 East
17th  Street a/k/a 32-34 East 18th Street), westerly along the northern
curbTine of East 17th Street, westerly across Broadway, westerly along the

northern curbline of East 17th Street, southerly across East 17th Street,
southerly along the eastern property line of 20 East 17th Street, southerly
along the eastern property lTine of 15-17 East 16th Street, wasterly along

the northern curbline of East 16th Street, southerly across East 16th
Street, southerly along the eastern property line of 18 East 16th Street,
southwesterly along the northern property Tine of 19 East 15th Street,
southeriy along the eastern property line of 13-17 East 15th Street,
wester ly along the northern curbline of East 15th Street, southerly across
East 15th Street, southeriy along the eastern property Tine of 71 Fitth
Avenue (a/k/a 2-4 East 15th Street), westerly, northerly and westerly along
the southern, western and southern property l1ines of 71 Fifth Avenue (a/k/a
2-4  East 15th Street), northerly along the eastern curbline of Fifth
Avenue, northerly across East 15th Street, westerly across Fifth Avenue,
wester |y along the northern curbline of West 15th Street, northerly along
the eastern property lTine of 15 West 15th Street (a/k/a 16 West 16th
Street), northerly across West 16th Street, westerly along the northern
curbline of West 16th Street, northerly along the western property lTine of
110-112 Fifth Avenue (a/k/a 1 West 16th Street), westerly along part of the
southern property Tine of 114-116 Fifth Avenue (a/k/a 2-6 West 17th
Street), westerly along the southern property lines of 8-10 through 36 West



17th  Street, westerly along a Tine extending westerly from the southwest
corner  of 386 West 17th Street to the southeast corner of 40-42 West 17th
Street, westerly along the southern property Tines of 40-42 through 50-54
West 17th Street, northerly along the western property line of 50-54 West
17th Street, northerly across West 17th Street, northerly along part of the
western  property  Tine of 44-48 West 18th Street (a/k/a 47-53 West 17th
Street), westerly along the southern property Tine of 604-612 Sixth Avenue
(a/k/a 50-80 West 18th Street), northerly along the eastern curbline of
Sixth Avenue, northerly across West 18th Street, westerly across Sixth -
Avenue, westerly along the northern curbline of West 18th Street, northerly
along the western property line of 143 West 18th Street, easterly along the
northern property Tine of 143 West 18th Street, northerly along the eastern
property  Tine of 126~136 West 18th Street, easterly along the southern
curbline of West 19th Street, northerly across West 18th Street, northerly
along the western property lines of 635638 Sixth Avenue (a/k/a 101-108
West 18th Street) and 6B641-649 Sixth Avenue (a/k/a  100-108 West 20th
Street), northerly across West 20th Street, westerly along the northern
curbline of West 20th Street, northerly along the western property Tine of
113-121 West 20th Street, sasterly along the northern property Tine of 113~
1271 West 20th Street, northerly along part of the western property lTine of
108-110 West 21st Street, northerly across West 21st Street, westerly along
the northern curbline of West 21st Street, northerly along the western
property Tine of 675~681 Sixth Avenue (a/k/a 101115 West 21st Street a/k/a
100-114 West 22nd Street), northerly across West 22nd Street, westerly
along the northern curbline of West 22nd Street, northerly, easterly and
northerly along the western, northern and western property lTines of 6385-707
Sixth Avenue (a/k/a 101-117 West 22nd Street a/k/a 110-116 West 23rd
Street), easterly along the southern curbline of West 23rd Street, easterly
across  Sixth Avenug, northerly across West 23rd Street, to the point of
beginning.

TESTIMONY AT THE PUBLIC HEARING

On June 10, 1886, the Landmarks Preservation Commission held a public
hearing on the proposed designation of this historic district (Item No.
30). The hearing had been duly advertised in accordance with the
orovisions of the law. Ninety-two people offered testimony at the public
hearing; sixty-six spoke in favor, twenty-three spoke against the proposed
designation, two spoke without a definite position, and one, representing
several owners of properties within the district, spoke twice in opposition
to the proposed designation and once about restoration concerns. The
Commission has received hundreds of pieces of correspondence expressing
support for the proposed district, and nine letters of opposition from
property owners within the historic district.

Commissioner Sarah Bradford Landau recused herself from voting on  the
designation because she had presented testimony supporting designation at
the public hearing prior to her appointment as a Commissioner.



INTRODUCTION

The Ladies Mile Historic District takes its name from the
stretch of Broadway, which in the last third of the 19th century
was lined by fashionable shops and stores. Ladies Mile began at
A. T. Stewart's uptown store at East 9th Street and ended at West
23rd Street at the Fifth Avenue Hotel which faced Madison Square.
Although the district incorporates only a portion of the
traditional Ladies Mile within its boundaries, the name has come
to encompass a larger area defined by a variety of buildings
reflecting the changing nature of retailing, commerce, and
manufacturing, as well as advances in building technology during
the second half of the 19th century and in the first two decades
of the 20th century. These buildings reveal the history of New
York's commercial architecture as it evolved from the Civil War
to World War I, representing a range of stylistic, structural,
and technological solutions to the problem of the appropriate
building type for the purposes of business and commerce.

The boundaries of the district roughly encompass the area
from 15th Street at the south to 24th Street at the north, and
extend into the blocks east of Broadway at the east and into the
blocks west of Sixth Avenue at the west. Each of the three
avenues spanning the area tells part of the story of Ladies Mile.

Broadway, beginning in the late 1850s, became the city's
most exclusive shopping street catering to the "carriage trade,"”
a role which intensified in the years following the Civil War and
well into the 1880s. In addition to large dry goods stores like
Arnold Constable at East 19th Street and Lord & Taylor at East
20th Street, Broadway contained retail establishments
specializing in the sale of household furnishings like W. & J.
Sloane, the furniture and decorating establishment of David S.

Hess, and A. A. Vantine, "The Oriental Store" specializing in
goods from the Middle and Far East (all between East 18th and
East 19th Streets), as well as smaller specialty shops, many of

which located in altered rowhouses or in the ground-story
shopfronts of larger office and loft buildings.

The portion of Sixth Avenue within the district, which has
been known as Fashion Row, began to change to a major shopping
street in the vyears following the Civil War, a trend which was
intensified by the opening of the Sixth Avenue El1 in 1878. The
El was able to bring shoppers to the major department stores of
Sixth Avenue from all over the city. These vast retailing
establishments, B. Altman, Simpson, Crawford & Simpson, Adams Dry
Goods, Hugh O0'Neill, Ehrich Brothers, and Siegel, Cooper & Co.
(as well as Stern Brothers prior to its relocation to West 23rd
Street), were joined by smaller specialty establishments like



Cammeyer for shoes and W. H. Hall for furs. At the opening of
Siegel, Cooper in September 1896 the New York Daily Tribune
described Sixth Avenue as the "Shopper's Paradise."

Linking the two shopping avenues of Broadway and Sixth
Avenue was 23rd Street, which began to be redeveloped for retail
purposes about the same time as Sixth Avenue. It, too, had its
major department stores, McCreery, Best & Co., LeBoutillier
Brothers, and Stern Brothers (only the Stern Brothers building
survives on West 23rd Street), as well as specialty emporiums
like Flint & Horner, furniture; Villeroy & Boch, china; and
F. A. 0. Schwarz, toys.

Fifth Avenue was 1initially the area's most prestigious
residential street, but the arrival of commerce to nearby
Broadway brought changes to Fifth as well, as Arnold Constable
expanded westward and specialty retailers moved into altered
townhouses. Beginning about 1890, the avenue began to undergo a
transformation, first with office buildings, many of which housed
publishers and architects, and then in a short span of some
fifteen vyears, beginning in the late 1890s, with numerous
speculatively-built store and loft structures. These provided
accommodations for the rapidly increasing number of wholesale
establishments in the area, which helped to make New York City a
national center for the expanding readymade clothing industry.

The side street blocks crossing the three avenues have their
own variegated character which also helps to tell the story of
Ladies Mile. The introduction of commerce to the avenues had a
spillover effect on the side streets, particularly on the short
blocks between Broadway and Fifth, the blocks immediately to the
east of Broadway, and the lots close to Fifth Avenue. Specialty
merchants who could not obtain space on the avenues often moved
into altered rowhouses on the side streets or sometimes into
newly-designed store buildings, like 18-22 East 18th Street
(Griffith Thomas, 1878), which housed the decorating firm of
Herter Brothers for several years. Numerous surviving mid 19th-
century four- and five-story rowhouses, which were altered for
commercial use with the insertion of two-story shopfronts are
scattered among the later, taller, loft buildings of six to
twelve stories on the side street blocks. The loft building is
the characteristic building type on the side streets. Built
between the late 1890s and World War I, some of these structures
were service facilities for the retail stores of Broadway and
Sixth Avenue. The majority housed thriving wholesale and
manufacturing establishments which catered to a national market.
Here dry goods, furs, clothing and related accessories were
manufactured, stored, and shipped. Spaces in the first two
stories held showrooms and wholesale stores.



The Flatiron Building, which in recent years has become as
much a symbol of Ladies Mile as the department stores, sits
astride the intersection of Broadway and Fifth Avenue at East
23rd Street. Designed by D. H. Burnham & Co., the building was
constructed in 1902-03 as the headquarters of the Fuller
Construction Company and because of its form and siting, captured
both the popular and artistic imagination. Like other buildings
of the early 20th century within the district, it contained
office and loft spaces for lease to the diverse business
enterprises to be found in the area.

Broadway, Fifth Avenue, Sixth Avenue, West 23rd Street, and
the side streets crossing the three avenues each has a
distinctive character, reflecting relative uniformity in height
from each historical development period; each is important to
understanding the historical and architectural development and
the varying scale, form, and character of Ladies Mile as it has
come to be known.

The Historical Development of Ladies Mile

The historical development pattern of the area of Ladies
Mile, in many respects, follows that seen in other sections of
Manhattan to its south, and may be divided into several phases.
What had been farmland in the 17th and 18th centuries, traversed
by Broadway and meandering farm lanes, was subsumed in the 19th
century by the Manhattan grid, laid out in accordance with the
Commissioners' Plan of 1811. The Plan mandated wide north-south
numbered avenues and narrower east-west numbered side streets,
thus creating blocks which are 800 feet long and approximately
200 feet deep. Contrasting with the regularity of the Plan which
resulted in the very long blocks between Fifth and Sixth Avenues
is the diagonal of Broadway. This thoroughfare bisects the blocks
between Fourth Avenue (now Park Avenue South) and Fifth Avenue,
creating short and irregularly shaped blocks. Within the area of
the historic district Broadway 1linked Union Sguare, opened in
1832, and Madison Square, opened in 1847. Broadway had long been
New York's most important street, and further to the south, was
dominated by commerce, which had displaced residential
communities beginning in the early 19th century. The imposition
of the grid and the opening of the numbered streets and avenues
had the potential of making much of the island available to real
estate development to meet the needs of an expanding population.
The typical pattern in New York City was to divide the blocks
into lots which were twenty-five feet wide and 100 feet deep.



First Development Phase

The residential development of what would be the Ladies Mile
area began in earnest in the 1830s and '40s, in response to
commercial changes occurring in residential neighborhoods further
to the south. Fifth Avenue, north of Washington Square, had
become New York's most desirable residential street in the 1830s.
Both Union Square and Madison Square were lined with rowhouses as
well as larger town houses. In addition to rowhouses, Broadway
contained two large mansions, that of Henry Parish at the
northeast corner of Broadway and East 17th Street, and the Peter
Goelet residence at Broadway and East 19th Street. The side
street blocks continued to be built up with residential
structures in the 1850s, and some private residences were built
on West 23rd Street as late as the early 1860s. Residents of the
area were among the city's most prosperous -- upper middle class
merchants and professionals as well as wealthy capitalists and
members of New York's old families. Numerous dwellings from this
first development phase survive throughout the Ladies Mile
Historic District, but in altered forms which reflect the
changing development patterns of the area. This thriving
residential community also brought with it related structures
like stables, a scattering of which survive in much altered form,
clubs, and churches and religious institutions. The sole
survivors are the Church of the Holy Communion complex at Sixth
Avenue and West 20th Street and on West 21st Street, west of
Sixth Avenue, the third cemetery of Congregation Shearith Israel,
whose synagogue stood at 5 West 19th Street. The Union Club,
built in 1854-55 at the northwest corner of Fifth Avenue and West
21st Street, is recalled in the name of the Union Exchange Bank
Building which stands on the site.

Early Commercial Development Phase (Late 1850s-early 1870s)

As the area was being developed, it was gquickly succumbing
to a continuation of the trends which dominated Broadway further
to the south. The entertainment district was moving northward to
14th Street, and then to Madison Square. Among the notable
structures for entertainment purposes within the area of the
district were Franconi's Hippodrome, the Eden Musee, and the
Masonic Temple. The entertainment district brought with it
hotels and related services. The most prominent of these, the
Fifth Avenue Hotel designed by Griffith Thomas, opened in 1858 on
the north side of West 23rd Street, opposite Madison Square. (It
was replaced in 1909 by the office building currently on the
site.) Hotels extended along Broadway northward from Union
Square. The Bancroft House, still standing at the northeast
corner of Broadway and 21st Street, was a single-family rowhouse
that was enlarged and converted for use as a hotel and rooming
house.
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The continued northward movement of commerce in response to
the growth of the city's population and its economy was the
determining factor in the present physical appearance of the area
of Ladies Mile. The first commercial inroads seem to have begun
as early as the 1850s on Broadway, north of Union Square, as
small retail shops and services began to open on the first and
sometimes second stories of rowhouses. Adapting a residential
structure for commercial use had been a common pattern during the
first half of the 19th century, and even such commercial
structures as the "counting houses" of South Street were closely

related to the design of residential structures. A. T. Stewart
had revolutionized the selling of drygoods in his commercial
palace which opened in 1846 at Broadway and Chambers Street. 1In

the following years, when Ladies Mile was in its first
development phase, his rivals had opened their own drygoods

palaces along Broadway as far north as Prince Street. Other
merchants, like the jewelers Tiffany & Co. and Ball, Black & Co.,

similarly opened establishments along that stretch.

The Mortimer Building at Broadway, Fifth Avenue, and East
22nd Street, built in 1861-62, was one of the earliest buildings
in the district constructed solely for commercial use even though

the Civil War had slowed the city's development. In the years
following the war, retail merchants slowly began to relocate
further northward. The first to make the leap to Ladies Mile

were Edward Hoyt and the firm of Arnold Constable, which occupied
twin marble-fronted buildings designed by Griffith Thomas on the
west side of Broadway between 18th and 19th Streets. Dating from
1868 after the end of the Civil War, they were quickly followed
by Lord & Taylor which occupied a new cast-iron fronted store in

the block to the north in 1870. Smaller retail and service
establishments began to open in altered dwellings; many of these
were on the side street blocks off Broadway. This early

commercial development phase was essentially halted by the
economic recession which followed the Panic of 1873.

Middle Development Phase (Late 1870s-early 1890s)

As the city's economy recovered in the late 1870s, the area
of Ladies Mile entered into a middle development phase, which saw
an expansion in retail establishments and related services, the
introduction of a new type of residential structure, the
continued alteration of single-family residences for retail
purposes, and the introduction of the first office buildings into
the area.
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The late 1870s and the 1880s were the era of the great
Ladies Mile department stores along Broadway and the concurrent
development of a Fashion Row along Sixth Avenue and on West 23rd
Street between Broadway and Sixth Avenue. Arnold Constable and
Lord & Taylor continued to expand their premises on Broadway and
Fifth Avenue; W. & J. Sloane opened its carpet and upholstery
palace on Broadway in 1882. The Gorham Manufacturing Co.,
specialists in silver, moved in 1884 into a building on Broadway
with retail and office space on the lower floors and French flats
above. The commercial development of Sixth Avenue was largely
fostered by the opening in 1878 of the Sixth Avenue El1 with stops
at 14th, 18th, and 23rd Streets. Among the merchants on Sixth
Avenue were B. Altman, Hugh O'Neill, Adams Dry Goods, Simpson,
Crawford & Simpson, and Ehrich Brothers. McCreery, Best & Co.,
LeBoutillier Brothers, and Stern Brothers dominated West 23rd
Street. These merchants each began in a single building, usually
a dwelling altered for commercial purposes, and then expanded
into adjacent structures. Eventually, as business prospered, the
early buildings were demolished to be replaced by a unified five-
or six-story department store design. The department stores
catered to clienteles of varying economic classes. Broadway had
no mass transit lines. Instead customers arrived via horse-drawn
omnibuses or private carriages. By contrast, the steam-powered
Sixth Avenue El1 was able to bring in shoppers from all over the
city to the Avenue's department stores.

Regardless of clientele, department stores generally carried
drygoods, curtains, upholstery, and carpets, later expanding into

such wares as furs and hosiery. Specialty merchants like the
purveyors of laces, ribbons, gloves, millinery, corsets, and
perfumes were generally found in smaller premises. This was

before the era of ready-made clothing; hence dressmakers and
tailors found it profitable to locate in the vicinity of the
department stores, usually in altered dwellings, where they would
be readily accessible to customers.

Decorators like Herter Brothers, specialists in Oriental
goods like A. A. Vantine, merchants and manufacturers of
household furnishings, furniture, and pianos, and purveyors of
art wares also located in the area, sometimes in five- or six-
story store buildings which followed the commercial palace
formula of the department stores (examples are the Hess Building,
876-878 Broadway, and the Flint & Horner Furniture Store, 61-65
West 23rd Street), more often in dwellings altered for commercial
use with the introduction of shopfronts at the basement and
parlor floors. The Goelet Building (McKim, Mead & White, 1887)
with its arcaded facades is an unusual example of the mercantile
building type.
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It was during this period that a new type of residential
structure began to be introduced, the nmultiple dwelling
containing French flats (single-family apartment units). The
most striking example is Bruce Price's handsome Queen Anne style
design (1878) at 21 East 21st Street. Such accommodations could
afford some of the economies in scale and services found in hotel
living but provided more privacy. Single-family houses which had
not been altered for commercial use began to be converted into
boarding houses, particularly those on the long side street
blocks between Fifth and Sixth Avenues. Boarding house residents
were often the personnel of the shops, department stores, and
smaller service establishments found in the area. The Young
Women's Christian Association, which had located on East 15th
Street in 1875, sought to provide for the needs of a significant
portion of these workers, constructing the still-extant YWCA
building on East 15th Street in 1887 and opening a residential
structure, the Margaret Louisa Home, on East 16th Street in 1891.

During this middle development phase, publishers began to
locate in the area, often in office buildings which were designed
to accommodate the needs of business, both profit-making and not-

for-profit. The Judge Building, the Scribner Building, the
Methodist Book Concern, and the Presbyterian Building are
examples of the type. The music publisher, Oliver Ditson, moved

to a2 new building at Broadway and 18th Street in 1883.
Architects, too, set up their offices in many of these new
buildings.

Later Development Phase (Late 1890s-c.1915)

An economic depression in the early 1890s once more
effectively slowed development in the area. With the recovery,
Ladies Mile was dramatically transformed during its later
development phase.

In the late 1890s the drygoods and department stores

continued to prosper, responding to ever larger markets. Lord &
Taylor continued to expand into new facilities on East 20th
Street and Fifth Avenue. Arnold Constable added an office

building, linked to the department store complex, at Fifth Avenue
and East 18th Street. The Chicago merchant Henry Siegel set out
to challenge the New York market and built the Siegel-Cooper
Department Store, the city's largest, in 1895-97 on Sixth Avenue.
B. Altman and Hugh O'Neill continued to expand, while Simpson,
Crawford & Simpson and Adams Dry Goods completely replaced their
smaller buildings with larger ones.
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Other economic and social forces were having their impact on
the area during these years, most notably the rise of the ready-
to-wear industry with New York as the center to serve a national
market. No longer was it necessary to have one's clothes made by
a dressmaker or tailor or to sew one's own. Instead garments
could be purchased directly from a department store or similar
establishment. Numerous manufacturers and wholesalers began to
respond to a national demand. At first clothing manufacture was
contracted out on a piecework basis and produced in the
sweatshops and tenements of the Lower East Side. But in 1899
legislation was passed which made it necessary to obtain a
license to use living quarters as workshops. This, in
conjunction with the demands of unions for better working
conditions, provided a powerful impetus to move such enterprises
to special quarters.l The result was the multi-story store and
loft building, frequently of ten to twelve stories, the dominant
type in the district. In the course of approximately fifteen
yvears these superseded the majority of the earlier structures.
The new buildings were quickly filled by businesses specializing
in the manufacture and sale of apparel; makers of cloaks, suits,
furs, shirtwaists, and neckware regularly appear in the
directories of the period. By 1900 the wvalue of goods produced
in the ready-made clothing industry was approximately $206
million, and 75,000 workers were employed.?2

Fifth Avenue had begun to succumb to commerce in the earlier
development periods as residential structures were replaced or
altered. During this later period, the avenue underwent a major
transformation as it was built up with office buildings, as well
as loft structures. These structures were speculatively built to
provide first class office and loft space for an expanding

business clientele. A few developers were very active in the
area, most notably Henry Corn who regularly worked with architect
Robert Maynicke. This phase also brought the area's most

striking building, the Flatiron, headquarters of the Fuller
Construction Company.

Post World War I Development Phase

By the end of the First World War, all the department stores
had closed, many moving their operations further uptown, and the
buildings were converted for manufacturing use. A few loft
buildings were constructed, dgenerally on Broadway. These were.
for the most part, generally taller (fifteen or more stories),
and located on larger sites than those of the previous
development phase, but because of the requirements instituted by
the 1916 zoning resolution, it was no longer possible to
construct tall buildings on midblock sites. Instead surviving
residential buildings on such sites were sometimes combined and
converted to factory use.

14



1930s to Present

During the Depression the area suffered from the general
economic decline. Buildings Department records indicate that
many rowhouses on midblock sites between Fifth and Sixth Avenues
were demolished in the 1930s. This resulted in many of the
parking lots seen in the district today.

Manufacturing and wholesale activities continued throughout

the area in the years following World War II. Today, ready-to-
wear clothing wholesalers and retailers exist side-by-side with

publishers, booksellers, and other businesses which have
characterized the district over the years.

Many businesses have moved into the neighborhood, converting
loft space that had been used for manufacturing and wholesale
purposes into offices. The area has also proved attractive for
residents seeking loft-type living accommodations. Many
restaurants and boutigques have also recently opened in the area.

15



The Architecture of Ladies Mile

BUILDING TYPES

Residential Construction

Beginning in the 1840s, the area was developed with the
standard single-family rowhouse type, which conformed to the
standard 25 foot by 100 foot New York City lot. Twenty to
twenty-five feet wide, sixty feet deep, the houses were four or
five stories tall above a basement with the parlor floor level
approached by a stoop. Faced in brick or brownstone, these
residences were given stylistic distinction on their exteriors by
the use of ornament in the Greek Revival and Italianate modes.
They lined the blockfronts, maintaining a uniform setback,
interrupted only by the occasional stable, club, or church

building.
Altered Dwellings

As the area succumbed to the demands of commerce, once-
private residences were altered to accommodate such uses, a
practice which had occurred in many other sections of the city.
Typically two-story storefronts have been installed at the
basement and first story, sometimes retaining the original stoop,
or, alternatively, spanning the facade. While the storefronts
have little stylistic relationship to the upper stories, they are
designed as unified two-story units. Examples of such altered
dwellings can be found scattered throughout the district on the
avenues and side streets.

Retail Stores/Department Stores

Within the district, the needs of commerce were most
strikingly addressed in retail stores, usually dry goods
establishments, what Winston Weisman has dubbed the commercial
palace type.® sSuch structures were first located in the district
along Broadway, and are some of the most individually

distinguished buildings in the district. Among the earliest of
these is the Mortimer Building at East 22nd Street, built in
1861-62 as a store and office building. The design, which is

attributed to Griffith Thomas, follows the prototype of the
influential A. T. Stewart Store, which opened in 1846 at Broadway
and Chambers Street.4 Such major New York retailers as Lord &
Taylor and Arnold Constable established "uptown" stores in the
late 1860s and early 1870s. Following the opening of the Sixth
Avenue El, other merchants built their stores on West 23rd Street
and on Sixth Avenue. With the development of cast iron as a
facade material and the use of interior cast-iron structural
supports, the architects of these buildings were able to create a
sense of lightness and openness in these designs. A number of
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architects specialized in the design of these buildings, among
them, Griffith Thomas, Henry Fernbach, William Schickel, John B.
Snook, William Wheeler Smith, and Mortimer C. Merritt. Their
work was not confined to retail stores in Ladies Mile, for they
had earlier designed similar retail establishments further south
on Broadway or were at the same time using the same design
principles for warehouses and wholesale establishments in what is
now the SoHo-Cast Iron Historic District.

Weisman has noted the stylistic indebtedness to Italian
Renaissance and Second Enmpire styles,® but even as stylistic
sources varied and became less historically derivative, five- and
six-story buildings in the commercial palace mode continued to
share certain design qualities: a facade organized into regular
bays on a twenty to twenty-five foot wide module; a one- or two-
story base with double-height show windows to attract the
passersby on the sidewalk or passengers on the Sixth Avenue El; a
major entrance treatment whose presence is signaled by a
pediment, dome, or tower at the roofline; and upper stories

arranged in a layered manner to accentuate horizontality. A
mansard roof is another indicator of the prominence of these
buildings. Ideally, the major facade was on a wide avenue. As

the stores expanded, the goal was to keep as much frontage along
an avenue as possible to attract customers. Consequently, Lord &
Taylor and Arnold Constable, both located on the west side of
Broadway, expanded to Fifth Avenue. The Sixth Avenue department
stores expanded along the avenue blockfronts, as well as into the
blocks, putting up secondary facades on the side streets.

Interior spaces of these stores were kept as flexible as
possible to acccommodate a variety of uses. The department store
complexes were constructed in sections over a period of time;
brick firewalls divided the sections. Otherwise floor spaces
were open and interrupted only by cast-iron columns. Later in
the nineteenth century, new wings incorporated skylit courts
linking the new sections with the old. This was the case at
Arnold Constable and B. Altman. Such stores contained several
levels of sales floors, warehouse and similar storage spaces, and
often in-house workshop facilities. The basement level was also
used and often extended under the sidewalk in vaults. One can
still see pieces of vault-light glass imbedded in sidewalk paving
throughout the district. The Siegel, Cooper & Co. store (1895-97;
DeLemos & Cordes) may be seen as an important marker in the
evolution of department store design, for it was the first large
steel-frame mercantile structure in New York City.® This
technology enabled the designers to provide interior elements
like skylit courts as part of the original design and large floor
areas uninterrupted by walls.
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Office Buildings

The changing nature of commerce and business in the district
dictated the need for taller buildings, first office buildings,
and then store and loft structures. Sarah Bradford Landau has
traced the stylistic antecedents of the tall, ten- to twelve-
story office building of the late 19th century in the
development of an arcaded tradition and its precedents for the
tripartite formula.? Some examples in the district include the
Judge Building (1890), 110 Fifth Avenue, and Warren Building
(1891), 903 Broadway, both by McKim, Mead, & White; Methodist
Book Concern (1890, Edward Kendall), 148-152 Fifth Avenue, and
the Presbyterian Building (1895, Rowe & Baker), 154-158 Fifth
Avenue. Henry Hardenbergh's Western Union Building (1884) at
Fifth Avenue and 23rd Street, Ernest Flagg's Scribner Building
(1894-95), 155 Fifth Avenue, and William Schickel's Constable
Building (1895) at Fifth Avenue and East 18th Street are other
striking office buildings of the area. The architects were
prestigious; the occupants of the office buildings were often
publishing concerns, piano manufacturers, and architects
themselves. Banks or shops occupied the ground floor spaces.
Like the department stores, these ten- to twelve-story office
buildings have their entrance facades fronting on the avenues
with a secondary facade on the side streets. Facades are
organized into regular bays based on a twenty to twenty-five foot
module, with a tripartite division of a two-story base with
first-story storefronts and internal mezzanine level window
openings above, a multi-story midsection with regularly spaced
window openings to light the offices, and a one- or two-story
top. The roofline is often emphasized by a mansard, dome, tower,
or a prominent cornice. Office buildings usually had handsomely
designed lobby spaces with elegant stair cases. The office
floors above often offered the same kind of flexible space as the
loft buildings.

Store and Loft Buildings

This is the predominant building type in the district, generally
ranging in height from six to twelve stories. Facades are
organized into regular bays based on a twenty to twenty-five foot
module, with a tripartite division of a two-story base, often
with a double-height shopfront, a multi-story midsection with
regularly spaced window openings to light the interior spaces,
and a one- or two-story top. Ornament is classically-inspired.
These buildings are fireproof or semi-fireproof, employ
structural iron or steel interiors, and have brick bearing walls
on the sides, sometimes punctuated by light courts. To
accommodate warehouse and manufacturing uses, the interior space
was designed to be as flexible as possible. More commonly found
on the side streets rather than the avenues, the buildings
sometimes go through the block. As with the rowhouses these
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buildings replaced, the design emphasis is on the facade; because
so many of these buildings were constructed side-by-side to the
same general height, there tends to be a uniform street wall. In
certain instances the exposed side walls rise above lower five-
story rowhouses or small loft buildings. Many of these walls
bear the remnants of painted signs which advertised the
businesses located in the buildings.

The architects usually were specialists in this building
type; among them were: Robert Maynicke, the single most prolific
architect in the district; Schwartz & Gross, Neville & Bagge, D.
& J. Jardine, Buchman & Fox, Cleverdon & Putzel, Louis Korn,
Ralph S. Townsend, and Frederick C. Zobel.

Converted Dwellings

Rowhouses of four and five stories began to be completely
converted for commercial use as early as the 1870s on Fifth
Avenue just south of 23rd Street, as well as on West 23rd Street

itself. Typically, the interiors would be completely altered,
the building raised an additional story, and given a completely
new commercial facade, often executed in cast iron. In the post

World War I development phase, residential structures on the side
streets between Fifth and Sixth Avenues, which had not given way
to the taller loft buildings prior to World War I, found a new
life as they were dramatically altered for factory spaces. While
these buildings tend to maintain the height and width of the
dwellings which preceded them, they were expanded towards the
street and in the rear and given new commercial facades.

STREET AMENITIES

Throughout the district are certain elements that help to
contribute to its character. Of particular distinction are two
turn-of-the-century cast-iron double-armed lamp posts. These are
located in front of the Western Union Building at Fifth and West
23rd Street and in front of the Arnold Constable Store at Fifth
and East 19th Street. Also of interest is the ornate cast-iron
sidewalk clock at 200 Fifth Avenue, a designated New York City
Landmark. Installed in 1909, when the Fifth Avenue Building was
erected, it served as a stylish advertisement for that building.

The district also retains a variety of historic paving
materials. These include large granite and bluestone sidewalk
slabs as well as granite curbing in some areas. In many cases
these materials are contemporaneous with the buildings they
front.
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The Architects of Ladies Mile

The architects who contributed to the development of this
area included some of America's most famous and prestigious as
well as others who were specialists in the design and
construction of certain building types such as drygoods and
department stores and store and loft buildings. By the third
gquarter of the 19th century, architecture had become a recognized
profession in the United States. Architects were receiving
formal education and training, and were setting up firms and
offices to handle the more complex demands of larger, more
specialized buildings. At the same time, they were seeking
design solutions to the problems of organizing and articulating
such buildings. The department stores, office buildings, and
store and loft buildings in Ladies Mile may be seen as examples
of these innovative solutions. The work of the architects within
the district and their careers are more fully described in the
Architects Appendix.
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BROADWAY
Between East 17th Street and West 24th Street

Broadway is the most heterogeneous of the three major avenues in the
district, containing as it does some of the earliest and smallest buildings
as well as some of the latest and tallest. On its diagonal path through
the district from the north side of Union Square to the west side of
Madison Square, it is dominated by two of the district’s most notable
towers, the MacIntyre Building (R. H. Robertson, 1890-92) at East 18th
Street, and the Flatiron Building (D. H. Burnham & Co., 1902-03) at East
23rd Street. Between these are a series of four- and five-story
residences, altered for commercial use as early as the late 1850s with the
insertion of two-story shopfronts; some of the most prestigious retail
stores of the Ladies Mile shopping district; several early office
buildings; and taller store and loft buildings from the early twentieth
century.

Broadway began to be developed with residences in the 1840s. The
Henry Parish mansion at East 17th Street and the Peter Goelet mansion at
East 19th Street stood out among rows of houses. Surviving buildings from
this era may be seen on both sides of the block between East 17th and East
18th Streets, and at numbers 907-909, 924, and 927-933. As the commercial
character of Broadway extended northward from Union Square in the late
1850s, once-private residences were adapted to the needs of commerce.
Facades above the shopfronts retain the characteristics of domestic
architecture. Others, like number 924 at East 2lst Street, were converted
to hotels and boarding houses. One of the earliest buildings to be
constructed on Broadway solely for commercial purposes was the Mortimer
Building (1861-62).

The years following the Civil War saw the relocation of several of the
city’s major drygoods and other specialty merchants to this section of
Broadway where they occupied large specially designed retail
establishments: Arnold Constable (Griffith Thomas, 1868) at East 19th
Street, Lord & Taylor (James Giles, 1870) at East 20th Street, W. & J.
Sloane (W. Wheeler Smith, 1882) at East 19th Street, and Gorham (Edward H.
Kendall, 1884) at East 19th Street. Other buildings for retail purposes
were also constructed along Broadway, notably the Hoyt Building (Griffith
Thomas, 1868) for merchant Edwin Hoyt at East 18th Street, the Pitson
Building (George W. Pope, 1883) for the Pitson Music Company at East 18th
Street, the Hess Building (Henry Fernbach, 1883-84) at East 18th Street for
the furniture and decorating business of David S. Hess, and the Parish
Building (Detlef Lienau, 1884) at East 17th Street. These buildings were
usually five or six stories tall, extended along half a blockfront, and had
elaborately detailed facades, major entrances, and large show windows to
capture the attention of the passing shoppers.
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BROADWAY
Between East 17th Street and West 24th Street (continued)

By the 1890s taller office buildings of eight to ten stories, which
also incorporated loft spaces, began to be interspersed among the retail
shops and larger wholesale and retail stores. The Warren Building (McKim,
Mead & White, 1891) at East 20th Street and the MacIntyre Building
(mentioned above) are notable examples. This type culminated in the
Flatiron Building. With offices and loft spaces located on the upper
stories, retail shops or related uses like banks were generally retained at
ground-story level.

A number of even taller store and loft buildings, characteristic of
the later development phase of the district, were constructed on Broadway
in the twentieth century. They were designed by various architects, among
them, William Harvey Birkmire, Maynicke & Franke, and John B. Snook Sons.
The facade organization reflects the original use of these buildings:
wholesale and retail stores at the first and sometimes second stories, and
loft space for wholesale and manufacturing purposes above. Tenants were
businesses specializing in the sale and manufacture of clothing and related
accessories or home furnishings.
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BROADWAY
Between East 17th Street and East 18th Street
East Side

860 BROADWAY between East 17th Street and East 18th Street (East Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 846/26]

PARISH BUILDING

TYPE STYLE

Store Late 19th-c. Commercial
ARCHITECT ORIGINAL OWNER

Detlef Lienau Daniel Parish (Estate of)

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: 1883-84

SUMMARY

This six-story late nineteenth-century commercial style store building,
characteristic of the middle development phase of the district, is located
on the northwest corner of Broadway and East 17th Street and extends
through the block to East 18th Street at the eastern boundary of the his-
toric district. The irregularly-shaped building is forty-two feet wide on
Broadway and eighty-one feet wide on East 17th Street with a one-bay cham-
fered corner conforming to the angle of the streets, and fifty feet wide on
East 18th Street. Designed by the noted and influential architect, Detlef
Lienau, and constructed in 1883-84, the Parish Building takes its name from
Henry Parish, a wealthy dry goods merchant whose sumptuous mansion formerly
occupied a portion of the site. Clad in brick with stone and terra cotta
trim, the Parish Building has lost most of its original neo-Grec ornamental
detail through refacing, although it still is a commanding presence at the
northwest corner of Union Square.

HISTORY

Erected in 1883-84 for the estate of Daniel Parish, the Parish Building is
one of the few remaining structures in New York designed by the noted nine-
teenth-century architect, Detlef Lienau, who was a student of the prominent
French architect, Henri Labrouste, and a pioneer of the French Second
Empire and neo-Grec styles in this country. From the 1880s through the
early twentieth century, the Parish Building housed a number of significant
tenants characteristic of those in the district, including several jewelers
and silversmiths, such as Thomas G. Brown & Sons, Redlich Ludwig & Company,
J.B. & S. Knowles, Geoffrey & Company, Howard Sterling Company, and
Dominick & Haff, a distinguished firm established in 1872 and absorbed by
Reed & Barton in 1928. The building also housed a number of furniture and
home furnishings merchants, including Hebbard & Brothers, jewelry cases;
William Jackson, mantels and fireplaces; Sypher & Company, antiques and
furniture; Nearco Castelli & Brothers, oriental rugs; and Thonet Brothers,
famous makers of bentwood furniture. The building was later known as the
Butler Building; this may refer to a successor of Butler, Melvin & Company,
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Broadway Between East 17th Street and East 18th Street (East Side)
continuation of . . . No. 860 Broadway

a dry goods firm in which Daniel Parish was once a partner.

The irregular site of the Parish Building was previously occupied by two
large structures: the former mansion of Henry Parish on Broadway and East
17th Street and a two-story commercial building erected around 1851 at 32-
34 East 18th Street. The land, along with the Broadway blockfront between
East 17th and East 18th Streets was part of a square-acre parcel purchased
by the Manhattan Bank Company in 1806 with the intention that it would move
there if the yellow fever epidemic forced the company out of lower Manhat-
tan; the bank developed and sold off the lots in the late 1840s. Designed
by Robert Griffith Hatfield and built in 1847-48, the Henry Parish mansion
was an elegant Italianate style brownstone residence, noted for its extra-
vagant furnishings, large conservatory, and plentitude of then-rare bath-
room facilities. Henry Parish (1788-1856) and his brother, Daniel, were
the sons of a Quaker storekeeper from upstate New York. They made their
fortune through a succession of profitable dry goods businesses with
branches in several southern United States cities, culminating in 1833 with
the firm of H. & D. Parish. After Henry Parish died, it appears that the
mansion was divided internally to accommodate several uses, reflecting the
first wave of commercial development in the district. The second Union
Place Hotel occupied the mansion from the late 1850s into the 1880s, and
the Union League Club leased the building from 1863 to 1868 at an annual
rent of $6,000. There were also a number of other tenants, typical

of those in the district, which were located in the mansion. These in-
clude: Leon Marcotte, an important interior designer who had been in a
partnership with Detlef Lienau (architect of the Parish Building) for a few
years around 1850; Phebe Brown, dressmaker; Othile Bousson, men’'s fur-
nishings; and William Euston, a decorative artist.

ARCHITECTURE

BROADWAY FACADE

Forty-two feet wide, the Broadway facade is articulated by one vertical bay
flanked by broad piers, with three square-headed window openings at each
story separated by narrower intermediate piers. Although the facade has
been refaced and the original neo-Grec style ornamental details have been
removed, the configuration of the windows and the horizontal elements of
the design remain in a simpler form. The one-story painted stone base has
banded end pilasters with molded capitals flanking three rectangular
openings. The northern opening has a modern surround containing plate
glass doors, while the other openings have spiraled iron enframements with
concrete infill topped by transoms that have iron grilles; the northern
transom is glazed while the other has metal louvers. The base is capped by
a molded cornice surmounted by arcaded balustrades spanning the second-
story windows. The second through the sixth stories are clad in buff-
colored brick, and intersected by a molded terra-cotta cornice above the
third story and a stringcourse above the fourth story. Each story has
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Broadway Between East 17th Street and East 18th Street (East Side)
continuation of . . . No. 860 Broadway

three window openings with stone sills containing paired one-over-one wood-
framed sash windows separated by iron mullions, except the northern opening
at the second story which is fitted with louvers. A terra-cotta rosette
frieze caps the sixth story, surmounted by a dentiled iron cornice with a
scalloped parapet.

The chamfered corner of the building, which once featured a bow-fronted
two-story entrance vestibule, is slightly recessed behind the planes of the
Broadway and East 17th Street facades. One bay wide, it has the same over-
all design and articulation of detail as the facades with which it inter-
sects, joining the continous horizontal design elements. The ground story
has an iron entrance surround with spiraled moldings capped by a frieze

of rosettes, scallop shells and ribbons with a shallow cornice above.

EAST 17TH STREET FACADE

Eighty-one feet wide, the East 17th Street facade has the same overall de-
sign and articulation of detail as the Broadway facade, although it has
two vertical bays of three openings at each story. At the ground story,
two openings in the eastern bay are fitted with recessed metal doors. The
two easternmost transoms above the ground-story openings are glazed, while
the others have metal louvers. The easternmost window opening of the
fourth story also has metal louvers.

EAST 18TH STREET FACADE

Fifty feet wide, the facade at 32-34 East 18th Street is clad in buff-
colored brick. Although the original design of this facade remains intact,
it does not reflect the original appearance of the other facades, as East
18th Street functioned as the rear of the building and was therefore given
a simpler architectural treatment. The facade is articulated by three
broad brick piers separating two vertical bays with three openings at each
story. The recessed openings at the ground story are separated by slender
iron colonnettes on raised pedestals; these openings have concrete infill
except for the two westernmost openings which contain modern metal doors
and metal panels. The ground story is capped by a molded cornice. Above,
each bay has three segmentally-arched window openings with chamfered sides
and brick voussoirs which share a common sill course ornamented by an inset
billet molding. The openings contain two-over-two metal sash except for
the easternmost openings of the second and sixth stories which have metal
louvers. A frieze of inset rosettes surmounted by a simple dentiled iron
cornice caps the facade. A fire escape has been installed at the center of
the facade.
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Broadway Between East 17th Street and East 18th Street (East Side)
continuation of . . . No. 860 Broadway

EASTERN ELEVATION

The eastern elevation, visible above the adjacent two-story building which
extends through the block from East 17th Street to East 18th Street, is
clad in red brick and has no significant architectural features.

NORTHERN ELEVATION

The northern elevation, visible above the adjacent four-story building on
Broadway, is clad in red brick and has no significant architectural
features. Two painted signs are visible on the wall; apart from the word
"Hess" these signs are illegible.

WESTERN ELEVATION

The western elevation, visible above the low-scale blockfront of the east
side of Broadway between East 17th and East 18th Streets, is clad in red
brick and has no significant architectural features. A painted sign,
reading "A. Steinhardt Brothers, Entrance, 860 Broadway," is visible on the
northern end of the wall.

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

*1883-84: NB 383-1883 [Source: New Building Application]

1925: Alt 135-1925 [Source: Alteration Docket]

Refacing of Broadway and East 17th Street facades with brick and terra-
cotta.

Architect -- F.H. Dewey & Company

Owner -- Sperry & Hutchinson Company, Inc.
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862 BROADWAY between East 17th Street and East 18th Street (East Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 846/24]

TYPE STYLE

Altered Rowhouse Greek Revival and later
ARCHITECT ORIGINAL OWNER

Unknown Manhattan Bank Company

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: c.1847
DESCRIPTION

This four-story altered rowhouse, characteristic of the early development
phase of the district, is located near the East 17th Street end of the
block. Twenty-five feet wide and constructed of brick, the building was
first partially converted from a private residence to commercial use in the
1850s, a change which reflects the first wave of commercial development in
the district. The ground story has a modern glass and aluminum storefront
with a roll-down metal gate. The second story has a large tripartite show
window, part of which survives from a storefront alteration prior to 1910;
paired fluted iron pilasters with incised capitals flank the window, and
the northern bay is topped by its original transom and a shallow modil-
lioned cornice which was part of the original enframement. The rest of
this cornice was replaced by a metal panel when the fire escape was in-
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stalled. The show windows were originally a wood-framed single-pane type
with glazed transoms. These have been replaced by multi-pane metal-framed
windows with paired transoms in the center and southern bays. The third
and fourth stories each have three square-headed window openings, re-
flecting the original domestic character of the facade. Those at the third
story are topped by projecting molded lintels, while the openings at the
fourth story were increased in height in 1921. The windows have one-over-
one wood sash, except for the southern bay at each story which has a metal-
framed modified casement window accessible to the fire escape. The facade
is surmounted by a stepped brick parapet with ornamental brickwork con-
structed in 1921.

HISTORY

Constructed in 1847-48, this altered dwelling was originally part of a row
of houses developed by the Manhattan Bank Company which extended between
East 17th and East 18th Streets on the east side of Broadway. The bank had
purchased a square-acre parcel containing this blockfront from Edward
Williams in 1806 with the intention that it would move there if the yellow
fever epidemic forced the company out of lower Manhattan. Daniel M. Edgar
purchased the property (along with 870 Broadway further up the block) in
1849, and continued to own it for at least fifteen years. The building was
first partially converted for commercial use as early as 1851, when it was
occupied by Thomas Merceau'’s drug store and Margaret Gombault'’s boarding
house. A storefront was installed sometime in the 1860s. In the 1870s,
Daprato & Gati’'s Eating Place occupied the ground story. The present
second-story show window was built as part of an alteration prior to 1910,
probably in the mid-1880s. Among the other early commercial tenants of the
building, typical of those in the district, were Errico Brothers, Italian
goods, which later moved to 859 Broadway just across the street; John
Benzur, a furrier; and Peter M. Reilly, a cigar store. In 1921, in con-
junction with a ground-story storefront alteration, the lintels of the
fourth-story windows were raised and the existing brick parapet was con-
structed. At that time, the building was occupied by a men’'s furnishings
store at the ground story, a barber shop at the second story, and manu-
facturing above.

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

*1921: Alt 251-1921 [Source: Alteration Application]

Removal of existing cornice and raising of fourth-story lintels to enlarge
windows, erection of parapet, and installation of ground-story storefront.
Architect -- John B. Snook Sons Owners -- Martin & Benjamin Morse
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864 BROADWAY between East 17th Street and East 18th Street (East Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 846/23]

TYPE STYLE

Altered Rowhouse Greek Revival
ARCHITECT ORIGINAL OWNER
Unknown Manhattan Bank Company

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: 1847-48
DESCRIPTION

This four-story Greek Revival style altered rowhouse, characteristic of the
early development phase of the district, is located near the East 17th
Street end of the block. Twenty-five feet wide and constructed of brick,
this building was partially converted from a private residence to business
use in the 1860s with the installation of a ground-story storefront. The
ground story currently has a modern glass and aluminum storefront with a
roll-down metal gate. An entrance vestibule is located at the southern
end. The second, third, and fourth stories each have three square-headed
window openings which get progressively shorter at each story, reflecting
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the original domestic character of the facade. The openings have simple
sills; the original projecting molded lintels are missing. The windows
have one-over-one wood sash, except at the third story where the northern
bay has a wood-framed modified casement window and the center bay has a
two-over-one wood sash window which provide access to the fire escape. Two
windows at the second story have been modified for air conditioners. A
simple iron cornice caps the facade.

HISTORY

Constructed in 1847-48, this altered dwelling was originally part of a

row of houses developed by the Manhattan Bank Company which extended be-
tween East 17th and East 18th Streets on the east side of Broadway. The
bank had purchased a square-acre parcel containing this blockfront from Ed-
ward Williams in 1806, with the intention that it would move there if the
yellow fever epidemic forced the company out of lower Manhattan. Theodore
Bailey purchased the property from the bank in 1849 and continued to own it
for at least fifteen years. In the mid-1860s, a storefront was installed
at the ground story, reflecting the first wave of commercial development in
the district. The store was occupied by Anthony Lauch’s confectioners in
the 1860s and 1870s. Among the other early tenants in the building,
typical of those in the district, were Everall Brothers, tailors, and
Conrad’'s Bakery and Lunchroom.

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

1887: Alt 907-1887 [Source: Alteration Application]
Construction of one-story rear extension, seven feet wide and eight feet

deep.
Architect -- John C. Klett Owner -- Sallie B. Frederick
Agent -- H.H. Cammann

1922: Alt 376-1922 [Source: Alteration Application]
Erection of new fire escape at front of building and installation of fire-

proof windows.
Architect -- Charles Mullon Owner -- Gertrude B.T. Griffiths, et al.
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866 BROADWAY between East 17th Street and East 18th Street (East Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 846/56]

TYPE STYLE

Altered Rowhouse Greek Revival
ARCHITECT ORIGINAL OWNER
Unknown Manhattan Bank Company

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: 1847-48
DESCRIPTION

This four-story Greek Revival style altered rowhouse, characteristic of the
early development phase of the district, is located at the middle of the
block. Twenty-five feet wide and constructed of brick, the building was
partially converted from a private residence to commercial use in the
1850s with the istallation of a ground-story storefront. The ground story
currently has two modern glass and aluminum storefronts with roll-down
metal gates, and a metal entrance door at the southern end. The second,
third, and fourth stories each have three square-headed window openings
which get progressively shorter at each story, reflecting the original do-
mestic character of the facade. The openings have simple sills and pro-
jecting molded lintels. The windows have one-over-one wood sash, except
the northern bay at each story has modified metal-framed casement windows
that provide access to the fire escape. A simple dentiled iron cornice
caps the facade.
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continuation of . . . No. 866 Broadway

HISTORY

Constructed in 1847-48, this altered dwelling was originally part of a row
of houses developed by the Manhattan Bank Company which extended between
East 17th and East 18th Streets on the east side of Broadway. The bank had
purchased a square-acre parcel containing this blockfront from Edward
Williams in 1806 with the intention that it would move there if the yellow
fever epidemic forced the company out of lower Manhattan. Thomas Ward pur-
chased the property from the bank in 1849 and continued to own it for at
least fifteen years. 1In the early 1850s, the building was occupied by
Jules Coutan’s school; by the late 1850s, the building had been partially
converted to commercial use, reflecting the first wave of commercial de-
velopment in the district, with Philo Cole’s retail dry goods store located
in the ground story. Commercial tenants of the 1880s and 1890s, typical of
those in the district, included D.B. Bedell & Company, merchants of fine
French and English porcelain specializing in Royal Worcester (which was lo-
cated next door at 868 Broadway in the 1870s); Charles E. Mosher, china and
glass; and Freeman Finley, a designer. Around 1910, the building was oc-
cupied by Fuller’'s Detective Bureau, while Morse Brothers, a men’'s wear
merchant, was located in the ground-story store. 1In 1923, fire escape was
erected on the front of the building, indicating that the building was in
use for light manufacturing.

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

1922: Alt 577-1922 [Source: Alteration Application]
Installation of fire escape and fireproof windows on front of building.

Architect -- Thomas W. Lamb Owner -- David Picker
Builder -- Rapid Fire Door, Inc.
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868 BROADWAY between East 17th Street and East 18th Street (East Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 846/55]

TYPE STYLE

Altered Rowhouse Greek Revival
ARCHITECT ORIGINAL OWNER
Unknown Manhattan Bank Company

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: 1847-48
DESCRIPTION

This four-story Greek Revival style altered rowhouse, characteristic of the
early development phase of the district, is located near the East 18th
Street end of the block. Twenty-five feet wide and constructed of brick,
the building was partially converted from a private residence to commercial
use in the late 1850s with the installation of a ground-story storefront.
The ground story currently has a modern glass and aluminum storefront with
metal roll-down gates and a metal entrance door at the southern end. The
second, third, and fourth stories each have three square-headed window
openings, reflecting the original domestic character of the facade. Ori-
ginally, these openings were progressively shorter at each story; however,
the fourth-story openings were increased in height in 1920. The window
openings have simple sills, and those at the second and third stories re-
tain the original projecting molded lintels. The windows have one-over-one
wood sash, except the center window at the third story which has two-over-
two wood sash, and the northern windows of the third and fourth stories
which are a metal-framed modified casement type which provide access to the
fire escape. A simple iron cornice caps the facade.
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HISTORY

Constructed in 1847-48, this altered dwelling was originally part of a row
of houses developed by the Manhattan Bank Company which extended between
East 17th and East 18th Streets on the east side of Broadway. The bank had
purchased a square-acre parcel of land containing this blockfront from Ed-
ward Williams in 1806 with the intention that it would move there if the
yellow fever epidemic forced the company out of lower Manhattan. O. Cam-
mann(Campbell?) purchased the property (along with 872 Broadway just up the
street) in 1849. 1In 1853, he sold the building to H.G. Marquand, a mil-
lionaire New York industrialist and philanthopist with large real estate
holdings, who owned the property for many years. In the late 1850s, the
building was occupied by a baker, Joshua Carleton, indicating that a store-
front had been installed at the ground story, reflecting the first wave of
commercial development in the district. 1In 1871, a one-story rear exten-
sion was added to the building to accommodate D.B. Bedell, a china and
glass merchant who occupied the ground-story store in the 1870s before re-
locating next door to 866 Broadway. In the 1880s, the building was oc-
cupied by the Wunderlich Art Gallery. Among the commercial tenants in the
building during the first decade of the twentieth century, typical of those
in the district, were Kassakian, rugs; F. Bennett’s Corset Parlor; Paul L.
Bryant, dyeing and cleaning; and "Professor" Kenison, a manicurist. 1In
1920, the fourth-story windows were increased in height and a fire escape
was constructed on the front of the building, which was used at that time
for light manufacturing.

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

1871: Alt 10-1871 [Source: Alteration Docket]
Construction of a one-story rear extension.
Owner -- H.G. Marquand Builder -- J. Barnes

1920: Alt 1099-1920 [Source: Alteration Application]

Construction of new fire escape at the front of the building and raising
of fourth-story lintels to enlarge window openings.

Architect -- Charles M. Straub Owner -- Morris Greenstein
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870 BROADWAY between East 17th Street and East 18th Street (East Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 846/54 in part]

TYPE STYLE

Converted Rowhouse Early 20th-c. commerical
ARCHITECT ORIGINAL OWNER
Unknown/Arthur Sutcliffe Manhattan Bank Company

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: <c¢.1847/1915
SUMMARY

In 1894, the four-story converted brick rowhouse at 870 Broadway, located
near the East 18th Street end of the block, was joined at the rear to 30
East 18th Street, a four-story altered brick dwelling located near the
Broadway corner, forming one L-shaped building. Characteristic of the
early development of the district, both twenty-five foot wide buildings
were constructed as private dwellings in the mid-nineteenth century and
later converted for commercial use. Erected in 1847-48, 870 Broadway re-
ceived its early twentieth-century commercial style facade as the result of
a 1915 alteration. 30 East 18th Street was constructed between the mid-
1850s and mid-1860s; the Italianate style facade of the building retains
its original domestic character above a ground-story storefront, most of
which survives from an early alteration.
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HISTORY

Constructed in 1847-48, 870 Broadway was built by the Manhattan Bank Com-
pany as part of the development of a row of houses extending from East 17th
Street to East 18th Street on the east side of Broadway. The bank had pur-
chased a square-acre parcel of land containing this blockfront from Edward
Williams in 1806 with the intention of that it would move there if the yel-
low fever epidemic forced the company out of lower Manhattan. Although
contained within the parcel owned by Manhattan Bank, it appears that 30
East 18th Street was built sometime between the mid-1850s and mid-1860s
(the directories indicate that Joseph Bridgeman sold seed at this address
in 1851, but the lot is vacant on the 1853 map of New York).

Daniel M. Edgar purchased 870 Broadway (along with 862 Broadway further
down the block) in 1849 and continued to own it for many years. Reverend
H.D. Ward was a resident at 870 Broadway in the early 1850s. By 1859,
Victorine Gilbert and Mary E. Horigan, dressmakers, were tenants in the
building, suggesting that it was already in use for business purposes, a
change reflecting the first wave of commercial development in the district.
In the 1870s, the building was occupied by artists’ studios and A. Picot &
Company, feathers, a typical tenant within the district. In 1881, the
ground-story floor was lowered and a new storefront was installed. Herman
Bergdorf, a tailor, had his shop in the building until 1893. Mr. Bergdorf
then moved his business to 125 Fifth Avenue where the name was changed to
Bergdorf & Voight, and by 1904, the Bergdorf Goodman company was estab-
lished, a business which survives today as a fashionable store known for
its fine clothing and accessories.

30 East 18th Street remained a private residence for a longer period of
time; as of 1868, the building did not have a ground-story storefront, un-
like many of the surrounding buildings. Residential tenants included Mr.
and Mrs. Lithauer and Mrs. Clement Lamy in the 1880s, and Miss Emma Gold-
smith around 1890. 1In 1894, the two buildings were joined at the rear by
a one-story extension, forming one L-shaped building. The ground-story
storefront at 30 East 18th Street was possibly installed at that time,
although there was another storefront alteration in 1905 which may have
affected both the Broadway and East 18th Street facades. Tenants in the
building at this time, typical of those in the district, included Isaac
Rindscopf, embroideries, and R.W. Hemens, a tailor. 0ld Staten Island
Dyeing and Cleaning Company and a merchant of hairbrushes were located in
the building around 1910. In 1915, the second-, third- and fourth-story
window openings at 870 Broadway were enlarged and reconstructed.
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ARCHITECTURE

BROADWAY FACADE

Twenty-five feet wide, the Broadway facade has a modern glass and aluminum
storefront at the ground story with a roll-down metal gate. Above, the
brick facade at the second, third and fourth stories is pierced by five-
part iron-framed show windows with molded mullions and pivoting wood-framed
panes installed in 1915. The second- and third-story windows have glazed
transoms. The windows are progressively shorter in height at each story,
reflecting the variation in window size of the original facade, which was
designed for domestic use. The height of the building was also slightly
extended at the time of the 1915 alteration. A modillioned iron cornice
caps the facade.

EAST 18TH STREET FACADE
See entry for 30 East 18th Street

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

1881: Alt 152-1881 [Source: Alteration Application]

Removal of first story front at 870 Broadway, lowering of ground-story
floor, and installation of a new storefront.

Architect -- John C. Klett Agent -- H.H. Cammann

1894: Alt 1664-1894 [Source: Alteration Application]

Construction of a one-story extension joining the rear of 870 Broadway to
the side wall of 30 East 18th Street. Possibly storefront alterations.
Architect -- Joseph Wolf Owner -- Daniel M. Edgar (Estate of)
Executor -- H. Cammann

1905: Alt 1128-1905 [Source: Alteration Application]

Installation of new iron-framed storefront. Listed under 870 Broadway,
but may also apply to 30 East 18th Street.

Architect -- John H. O'’Rourke Owner -- Daniel M. Edgar (Estate of)
Executor -- H. Cammann

*1915: Alt 218-1915 [Source: Alteration Application]

Removal of piers between front windows of second, third, and fourth stories
at 870 Broadway and installation of enlarged iron-framed windows.

Architect -- Arthur Sutcliffe Owners -- Daniel & Edgar Newhold
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872 BROADWAY between East 17th Street and East 18th Street (East Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 846/52]

HAWES BUILDING

TYPE STYLE

Converted Dwelling Beaux-Arts

ARCHITECT ORIGINAL OWNER
Unknown/Frederick Jacobson Manhattan Bank Company

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: «c¢.1847/1901
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Broadway Between East 17th Street and East 18th Street (East Side)
continuation of . . . No. 872 Broadway

SUMMARY

This four-story converted dwelling, with a Beaux-Arts style stone facade
characteristic of the later development phase of the district, is located
at the southeast corner of Broadway and East 18th Street, extending thirty-
four feet along Broadway and eighty-eight feet along East 18th Street.
Originally constructed as a private dwelling during the early development
phase of the district as part of a row of brick houses extending along the
Broadway blockfront from East 17th to East 18th Streets, the building was
later adapted for business purposes during the first wave of commercial de-
velopment in the district. 1In 1901, the Hawes Building (named for its
owner at that time, B.F. Hawes) underwent substantial alterations, in-
cluding the erection of a new stone facade on Broadway, a slight increase
in the height of the building, and the reconstruction of the fourth story
of the East 18th Street facade to make the building conform to a regular
cornice line.

HISTORY

Constructed in 1847-48, this converted dwelling was part of a row of houses
developed by the Manhattan Bank Company along the Broadway blockfront,
although its corner lot allowed the building to be slightly wider than the
others in the row. The bank had purchased a square-acre parcel containing
this blockfront from Edward Williams in 1806 with the intention that it
would move there if the yellow fever epidemic forced the company out of
lower Manhattan. O. Cammann(Campbell?) purchased the property (along with
868 Broadway just down the street) in 1849 and continued to own it for many
years. The building was first partially converted from a private residence
to commercial use sometime in the 1850s; by the late 1850s, George C.
Anthon’s school and R.H. Timpson & Brother, grocers, occupied the building.
An irregularly-shaped three-story commercial structure at 28 East 18th
Street (located at the rear of the lot) is indicated on the 1868 Perris
insurance map of New York City. It appears that 872 Broadway and 28 East
18th Street were joined in 1869 to accommodate a photography gallery and
studios; in the mid-1870s, J. Gurney & Son, photography, was located at
this address. This alteration also entailed the removal of portions of the
top story along East 18th Street and the insertion of glazed studio spaces.
(The fourth story was reconstructed in 1901 in conjunction with the erec-
tion of the new facade of the Hawes Building). Other commercial tenants in
the building between the 1880s and first decade of the twentieth century,
typical of those in the district, included Dorcas, a women’s handiwork
magazine; Grignard Morgan Company, an art publisher; Erksine & Company,
millinery goods; the Cosmopolitan shirt store; and the Plymouth Raincoat
Company .
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ARCHITECTURE

BROADWAY FACADE

Thirty-four feet wide, the Broadway facade is clad in stone above two
modern glass, brick, and aluminum storefronts at the ground story. The se-
cond, third, and fourth stories are articulated by two vertical bays con-
taining iron-framed tripartite show windows separated by iron spandrels
original to the 1901 facade. These windows have wood pivoting sash and
glazed transoms. The triple-height bays have coursed enframements with
molded reveals rising to the fourth story where they are highlighted by
large terra-cotta scallop shells. The building is accented by a coursed
corner pier serving as a transition to the East 18th Street facade which
has a one-bay return of the stone-framed show windows set into the brick.
A modillioned iron cornice surmounts the facade and continues along East
18th Street; "Hawes Building" is inscribed in the center of the frieze.

EAST 18TH STREET FACADE

Eighty-eight feet wide, the East 18th Street facade is clad in red brick
(painted dark red). The western end of the facade has a one-bay return of
the modern Broadway storefront at the ground story, surmounted by a bay of
tripartite show windows set in a stone enframement which echoes the design
of the Broadway facade. To the east of the ground-story storefront is a
modern sign, a metal door, a row of openings behind roll-down metal gates
(first constructed in 1912), and a doorway at the eastern end reached by
shallow steps. Above, the brick facade is pierced by square-headed window
openings with simple sills and flush stone lintels which recall the
original domestic character of the building. These openings contain one-
over-one wood sash, except for one window at each story toward the eastern
end; these are metal-framed modified casement windows accessible to the
fire escape. The arrangement of the window openings is somewhat irregular;
this is due to the 1901 alteration in which the building was partially re-
constructed. A modillioned iron cornice caps the building.

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

1869: Alt 434-1869 [Source: Alteration Application]

Removal of portions of the brick wall of the top story along East 18th
Street and construction of glazed studio spaces.

Owner -- William Kirk Builder -- William D. Gibson

*1901: Alt 2671-1901 [Source: Alteration Application]

Erection of new stone facade with large show windows. Removal of existing
studios; reconstruction of fourth story to conform to common cornice line.
Architect -- Frederick Jacobson Owner -- B.F. Hawes

1912: Alt 2776-1912 [Source: Alteration Application]

Removal of a portion of ground-story wall on East 18th Street and corner
masonry pier of building for the installation of storefronts.

Architect -- Leonidas E. Denslow Owner -- Susan G. Cammann, et al.
Builder -- Blot & Baust Tenants -- Kate Hawes & United Cigar
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BROADWAY
Between East 17th Street and East 18th Street
WEST SIDE

857 BROADWAY between East 17th Street and East 18th Street (West Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 846/19]

TYPE STYLE
Converted Dwelling neo-Grec
ARCHITECT ORIGINAL OWNER
Unknown/Joseph M. Dunn Peter Goelet

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: c¢.1847/1884
SUMMARY

This four-story neo-Grec style converted dwelling, located at the north-
west corner of Broadway and East 17th Street, extends twenty-seven and a
half feet along Broadway and 107 feet along East 17th Street. The building
was first converted from a private residence to commercial use in 1860s, re
flecting the first wave of commercial development in the district. 1In 1884
a cast-iron facade, characteristic of the middle development phase of the
district, was constructed on Broadway and a four-story extension of about
thirty feet was added to the rear. The dwelling was originally built in
1847-48 for Peter Goelet, whose family fortune was made in New York real
estate.

HISTORY

Originally built in 1847-48 as a private dwelling owned by Peter Goelet,
this building passed in 1854 to Peter'’s brother Robert Goelet, in whose
family it remained for many years. Among New York's most prominent and
successful real estate developers, the Goelets erected some of the most
historically and architecturally significant buildings in the district, in-
cluding the Goelet Building (894-900 Broadway), the Gorham Building (889
Broadway), the Lord & Taylor Building (901 Broadway), and the Judge Buil-
ding (110-112 Fifth Avenue). Robert Goelet, who greatly expanded the
family fortune, also served as a director of Chemical Bank. Peter Goelet,
an eccentric bachelor, lived two blocks north of 857 Broadway at Broadway
and 19th Street. 1In the 1860s, L.D. Able’s Eating House was located at

857 Broadway, indicating that the building had already been partially con-
verted for commercial use. 1In 1884, a four-story extension was added to
rear and the cast-iron front was constructed on Broadway to accommodate
stores and lofts. Among the early commercial tenants of the building,
typical of those in the district, were Marcuse & Company, Jewelry; M.L.
Rimes Illustrating Company; and DeYoung's Photograph Gallery, which claimed
to be "the largest photographic establishment in New York City" in 1902.
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Broadway Between East 17th Street and East 18th Street (West Side)
continuation of . . . No. 857 Broadway

ARCHITECTURE

BROADWAY FACADE

The Broadway facade is clad in cast-iron painted dark red. It is three
bays wide with an angled corner bay and a one-bay return on East 17th
Street. The ground story has a modern glass and aluminum storefront and
doors. The storefront is surmounted by a molded cornice supported by
simple brackets, a frieze accented with fleurons, a dentiled stringcourse,
and a paneled frieze which together form the base of the projecting second
story. The second-story windows are separated by slender colonnettes and
retain the original transom openings, although the transom glazing has been
replaced by panels. The wood-framed tripartite windows appear to be re-
placements for the original. Shallow molded cornices cap the second and
third stories. The third- and fourth-story windows have one-over-one wood
sash which appears to be original, except for those in the corner bay which
are a single-pane type. Pilasters separate the windows; those at the nor-
thern end on Broadway, at the corner where they conform to the angled bay,
and at the western end of the East 17th Street one-bay return are embel-
lished with diagonal ribbing, foliated bands, vertical flutes, and simple
capitals with festoons. The narrower pilasters flanking the center bay on
Broadway have scalloped moldings. The Broadway and East 17th Street fa-
cades are surmounted by a continuous modillioned cornice.

EAST 17TH STREET FACADE

The East 17th Street facade is constructed of brick, painted gray, with a
one-bay return of the cast-iron Broadway facade at its eastern end. The
ground story has three modern glass and aluminum storefronts capped by a
simple iron cornice remaining from earlier storefronts. Above, irregularly
placed square-headed window openings with stone sills pierce the facade;
these contain one-over-one wood-framed sash. The second story has two pro-
jecting iron-framed bays, one at the western end and the other near the
center of the facade, with paneled enframements and simple cornices. The
pivoting wood-framed show windows with transoms have a tripartite con-
figuration at the western bay and are paired at the eastern bay. A fire
escape with decorative railings is suspended from the eastern end of the
facade.

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

*1884: Alt 224-1884 [Source: Alteration Docket]

Rear extension of four stories approximately thirty feet deep, and erection
of new cast-iron facade to accommodate store and lofts.

Architect -- Joseph M. Dunn Builder -- Michael Reid

Owners -- Robert & Ogden Goelet
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859 BROADWAY between East 17th Street and East 18th Street (West Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 846/20]

TYPE STYLE

Altered Dwelling Italianate
ARCHITECT ORIGINAL OWNER
Unknown/James S. Maher Nancy S. Edwards

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: 1841/1897
DESCRIPTION

This three-story Italianate altered dwelling, characteristic of the early
development phase of the district, is located near the East 17th Street end
of the block. Twenty-five feet, five inches wide and constructed of brick,
the building was first partially converted from a private residence to com-
mercial use in the 1860s, a change which reflects the first wave of com-
mercial development in the district; the existing second-story show window
survives from a storefront alteration of 1897. The ground story has a
modern glass and aluminum storefront. The second story has a large four-
part show window with iron mullions and a simple cornice. The windows,
altered later, have three-over-three metal-framed sash with tripartite
transoms, except for the southern bay which has paired metal-framed doors
with three panes each, which provide access to the fire escape suspended
from the facade. The third story has three square-headed window openings
with projecting molded lintels, reflecting the original domestic character
of the facade. The southern and center window openings contain two-over-
one metal sash, while the northern opening has a four-part metal-framed
door. The facade is capped by a bracketed and modillioned iron cornice
which appears to date from the 1869 alteration.

HISTORY

Originally built in 1841 as a private dweling for Nancy S. Edwards, this
building was first converted to stores in the 1860s. In 1869 a new front
of Coloburgh brick was constructed, a one-story extension approximately
forty-five feet deep was added to the rear, and a new iron cornice was
added to the facade. 1In 1884, the rear extension was raised the full
height of the building. 1In 1897, a new storefront was constructed at the
first two stories. Among the early tenants of the building, repre-
sentative of those in the district, were Errico Brothers, importers of art
works, which relocated from 862 Broadway across the street where it had
been listed as a merchant of Italian goods; and J.M. Chanut & Cie, im-
porters and merchants of French gloves. In 1916, J.M. Chanut & Cie ex-
panded into 23 East 17th Street by joining the rears of the two buildings.
Reflecting a change in use to allow manufacturing, a fire escape was
erected at the front of the building and the existing window frames were
altered at this time.
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Broadway Between East 17th Street and East 18th Street (West Side)
continuation of . . . No. 859 Broadway

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

1869: Alt 455-1869 [Source: Alteration Application]

Construction of new brick front, extension of first story at the rear of
the building about forty-five feet deep, and addition of new iron cornice.
Architect -- H.F. White Owner -- Unknown

Builder -- Huson & Leeder Tenant -- James Pursell

1884: Alt 553-1884 [Source: Alteration Application]
Addition of two stories to existing rear extension.
Architect -- C.E. Hadden Owner -- E.A. Newell

*1897: Alt 466-1897 [Source: Alteration Application]
Construction of new storefronts at first two stories.
Architect -- James S. Maher Owner -- Edwards Estate

1916: Alt 2567-1916 [Source: Alteration Application]

Erection of fire escapes at front of building, replacement of window sash,
and construction of opening at rear of building to join 23 E. 17 Street.
Architect -- Hohn H. Scheier Owner -- Maria Edwards (Estate of)
Tenants -- J.M. Chanut & Cie

1953: BN 2826-1953 [Source: Building Notice Application]
Opening between building and 23 East 17th Street closed.
Owner -- 859 Broadway Corporation Builder -- Joseph Harber
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861 BROADWAY between East 17th Street and East 18th Street (West Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 846/21]

TYPE STYLE

Altered Dwelling Italianate
ARCHITECT ORIGINAL OWNER
Unknown/William A. Hankinson Moses L. Jackson

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: <c¢.1842/1889
DESCRIPTION

This four-story Italianate altered dwelling, characteristic of the early
development phase of the district, is located at the middle of the block on
an unusual triangularly-shaped lot. Twenty-five feet wide and constructed
of brick, the facade retains part of the second-story show window from an
1889 storefront alteration although the building had been converted for
commercial use in the 1860s, in a change reflecting the first wave of com-
mercial development in the district. The ground story has a modern glass
and aluminum storefront. The second story has a five-part iron-framed show
window; the fluted pilasters at the ends date from the 1889 alteration when
a four-part show window was installed. The existing three-over-three

metal -framed windows with transoms, and the metal-framed door at the nor-
thern bay with access to a fire escape suspended from the facade, were in-
stalled later. The third and fourth stories each have three square-headed
window openings reflecting the original domestic use of the building; the
southern and center openings at the third story retain their projecting
molded lintels. The windows have one-over-one wood-framed sash, except for
the southern bay of the third story and the northern bay of the fourth
story which have pairs of two-part wood-framed casement windows, and the
center bay of the third story has a two-over-two wood-framed sash window.

A bracketed iron cornice, which appears to have been added in the late
1860s, caps the facade.
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Broadway Between East 17th Street and East 18th Street (West Side)
continuation of . . . No. 861 Broadway

HISTORY

Originally constructed as a private dwelling in 1841-42 for Moses L.
Jackson, in whose family it remained for many years, this building was
converted for commercial use sometime in to the 1860s. In the 1880s, the
building was used for jewelry manufacturing and as a fruit store. 1In 1889,
a new two-story storefront was constructed, a typical alteration within the
district. At that time, the store was leased to a fur dealer, H.F.
Binseil, who remained a tenant of the building in the 1890s. Another early
commercial tenant in the building was Lefroy Jewelry. 1In 1923, a fire es-
cape was placed on the facade, suggesting that the building was used for
manufacturing. It is probable that the existing second-story show window
and the fire doors above were installed at that time.

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

*1889: Alt 796-1889 [Source: Alteration Application]
Installation of two-story storefront constructed of iron.
Architect -- William A. Hankinson Owner -- Ewen McIntyre

1923: Alt 1150-1923 [Source: Alteration Application]

Erection of fire escape at the front of the building and (possibly) in-
stallation of fireproof windows.

Architect -- Otto A. Staudt Owner -- William C. Walker & Sons
Builder -- Waterbury & Riley

REFERENCES

Atlas of the Entire City of New York (New York: George W. Bromley & E.
Robinson, 1879), pl. 12.

Atlas of the City of New York and Part of the Bronx (New York: E.
Robinson, 1885), pl. 12.

Atlas of the City of New York, Borough of Manhattan (Philadelphia:
G. W. Bromley, 1899-1909), vol. 2, pl. 4.

M. Christine Boyer, Manhattan Manners (New York, 1985), 123.

R.M. DelLeeuw, Both Sides of Broadway (New York, 1910), 316.

Insurance Maps of the City of New York (New York, N.Y., 1868), vol. 2,
pl. 45.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.

Margaret Moore, "Ladies Mile Historic District Research for the Designation
Report," presented to the Landmarks Preservation Commission,
Dec. 15, 1987 (unpublished printout), 108.

New York City, Tax Assessment Records, Ward 18, 1847, 1849, 1851, 1853,
1860, 1865, Municipal Archives and Records Center.

New York City, Tax Assessment Records, Ward 16, 1842, 1844, Municipal
Archives and Records Center.

William Perris, Maps of the City of New York (1853), wvol. 4, pl. 53.

HHHHHHHHF

56



863 BROADWAY between East 17th Street and East 18th Street (West Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 846/22]

TYPE STYLE

Altered Dwelling Italianate
ARCHITECT ORIGINAL OWNER
Unknown John Ferris

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: c¢.1842
DESCRIPTION

This four-story Italianate altered dwelling, characteristic of the early
development phase of the district, is located at the middle of the block.
Twenty-three feet wide and constructed of brick, the building was first
partially converted from a private residence to commercial use in the 1860s
and in 1885 a new storefront was installed at the ground story, a typical
alteration within the district. The ground story now has a modern glass
and aluminum storefront. Above, each story has three square-headed window
openings with simple stone lintels and sills which reflect the original
domestic character of the building. The second story windows are elon-
gated, typical of the domestic parlor floor. Those openings have six-over-
six wood sash, and the openings above have one-over-one wood sash. An iron
cornice with scrolled brackets, which appears to date from the late 1860s,
caps the facade. The northernmost bracket is missing.

HISTORY

Originally constructed in 1841-42 as a private dwelling for John Ferris,
the building was subsequently owned by Peter Gilsey in the 1850s, a pro-
minent nineteenth-century New Yorker and an alderman of the city. Born in
Denmark in 1811, Gilsey emigrated to this country in 1837. After estab-
lishing himself in the tobacco trade, he began to invest in Broadway real
estate. One of Gilsey’'s most notable ventures was the Gilsey House hotel
built in 1869-71 and designed by Stephen Decatur Hatch (a designated New
York City Landmark). Around 1860, 863 Broadway was occupied by Sophia C.
Weesells who operated a boarding house. Sometime in the 1860s, the buil-
ding received a storefront, typical of the first wave of commercial de-
velopment within the district; in the 1870s, Friend Pitts, dress trim-
mings, was located in the building. 1In 1885, a new iron-framed storefront
was installed; at that time, the building was occupied by Huyler'’'s, a con-
fectioner and importer of novelties which occupied the building for over
twenty-five years. Huyler’'s began as a pushcart business and grew into one
of the greatest candy manufacturers in America. The shop at 863 Broadway
was the company’'s first location; it was well-known for its red window
shades and sign reading "candy fresh every hour." 1In 1897, openings were
cut in the north wall to connect the building with 865 Broadway.
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Broadway Between East 17th Street and East 18th Street (West Side)
continuation of . . . No. 863 Broadway

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

1885: Alt 1820-1885 [Source: Alteration Application]

Removal of the front at the ground story and construction of a iron-framed
plate glass storefront.

Architect -- C.B.J. Snyder Owner -- Huyler’s Company

Builder -- John Archer & Company

1897: Alt 669-1897 [Source: Alteration Application]

Construction of openings in north wall to connect building to 865 Broadway
(in cooperation with that building’s owner, the Estate of S.D. Beers).
Architect -- Edward H. Clark Owner -- Ruth Livingston

Builder -- Adam Steele
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865 BROADWAY between East 17th Street and East 18th Street (West Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 846/57]

TYPE STYLE

Converted Dwelling Commercial Palace
ARCHITECT ORIGINAL OWNER
Unknown/(?) E.W. Clawson

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: <¢.1843/1869
DESCRIPTION

This five-story converted dwelling, located near the East 18th Street end
of the block, was altered for commercial use with the construction of a
new front in the commercial palace style, a change consistent with the
first wave of commercial development in the district. Twenty-five feet
wide, the existing cast-iron facade and a mansard roof were added to the
four-story dwelling in 1869; in 1874, the existing brick-faced fifth story
replaced the mansard. The ground story has a modern glass and aluminum
storefront. Above, four piers rise from the second to the fourth story,
dividing the facade into three vertical bays; the end piers are coursed
while those at the center are bisected at each story with rectangular
panels. The window openings, all with vermiculated keystones, are round-
arched at the second story, segmentally-arched at the third story, and
basket-arched at the fourth story. The elongated openings at the second
story correspond to the domestic parlor floor of the original dwelling.
The window openings contain three-over-three metal sash. Sill courses
delineate the stories. Above the fourth story, the piers are topped by
paired brackets which support a modillioned cornice. The fifth story is
constructed of brick and has round-arched window openings with small key-
stones flanked by inset brick panels. The windows have two-over-two metal
sash. A shallow cornice caps the fifth story, and a fire escape is sus-
pended from the facade.

HISTORY

Originally constructed around 1843 as a four-story private dwelling for E.
W. Clawson, this building was converted for commercial use in the 1860s.
Around 1851, the building was occupied by the Esther S. Leverett school.
Between 1855 and the mid-1860s, the building was owned by Joseph D. Beers,
in whose estate the building remained for some time. In 1869, the building
was given a new cast-iron facade with a storefront at the ground level and
a mansard roof was added; the owner was listed on the alteration permit as
Charles B. Wood but the architect was not given. In 1874, the mansard roof
was removed and the existing fifth story was constructed; for this al-
teration, Charles B. Wood was listed on the permit as both the owner and
the architect for the building. The building was in use as a store and
lofts at this time. First Japanese Goods, a tenant characteristic of the
import and specialty merchants in the district, was located in the buil-
ding in the late 1870s and 1880s. In the mid-1890s, the building was oc-
cupied by auction rooms. In 1896, the building was leased to John For-
sythe, the owner of a large men’s clothing and furnishings store located

59



Broadway Between East 17th Street and East 18th Street (West Side)
continuation of . . . No. 865 Broadway

next door in the Ditson Building at 867-871 Broadway. In 1897, 865
Broadway was joined to its southern neighbor, 863 Broadway, which was occu-
pied by Huyler's, a confectioner. It appears that Huyler’s and Forsythe's
shared the building for warehouse purposes. In 1907, Forsythe's store ex-
panded into the ground story, and the storefront was made to conform to
those at 867-871 Broadway. It is possible that around that time 865
Broadway was also joined to the rear of 23 East 17th Street, near the
Broadway corner, where Forsythe's was also listed as a tenant. In 1912,
the fire escape was relocated from the rear to the front of the building;
it is possible that the existing windows were installed at that time.

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

1869: Alt 1204-1869 [Source: Alteration Application]

Removal of the existing facade and construction of new cast-iron front and
mansard roof.

Architect -- Not Listed Owner -- Charles Wood

*1874: Alt 597-1874 [Source: Alteration Application]

Removal of the existing mansard roof and construction of a new brick fifth
story.

Architect -- Charles B. Wood Owner -- Charles B. Wood

Mason -- William B. Pettit

1897: Alt 669-1897 [Source: Alteration Application]

Construction of openings in south wall to connect building to 863 Broadway
(in cooperation with that building’s owner, Ruth Livingston).

Architect -- Edward H. Clark Owner -- S.D. Beers (Estate of)

Builder -- Adam Steele

1907: Alt 474-1907 [Source: Alteration Application]

Construction of new show windows at 865, 867, and 869 Broadway and joining
of ground-level store with adjacent building, 867-71 Broadway.

Owner -- John Forsythe, et al. Builder -- Frank E. Perkins

Tenant -- John Forsythe

1912: Alt 2612-1912 [Source: Alteration Application]

Projecting storefront window made flush with building line and fire escape
installed at front of building.

Architect -- Hunt & Hunt Owner -- Beers Realty Company
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867-869 BROADWAY between East 17th Street and East 18th Street (West Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 846/60]

DITSON BUILDING

TYPE STYLE

Store Romanesque Revival
ARCHITECT ORIGINAL OWNER

George W. Pope Oliver Ditson & Company

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: 1882-83
SUMMARY

This five-story Romanesque Revival style store building, characteristic of
the middle development phase of the district, is located on the southwest
corner of Broadway and East 18th Street, extending sixty-nine feet along
Broadway and 102 feet along East 18th Street. The Ditson Building was de-
signed by the Boston architect, George W. Pope, and erected in 1882-83 for
Oliver Ditson & Company, music publishers. The facades are clad in brick
with contrasting stone trim; although the building has been painted dark
red, the variation in the texture of the materials is still visible. The
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roofline is distinguished by triangular gables and projecting corbeled
piers.

HISTORY

Erected for Oliver Ditson & Company, Boston-based music publishers, the
Ditson Building housed one of many music-related businesses located in the
district. Oliver Ditson (1811-1888), a musician trained in the publishing
and printing trades, published his first song in 1835. 1In 1836, he began a
partnership with Colonel Samuel H. Parker, a bookseller, under the name of
Parker & Ditson, "dealers in piano fortes and sheet music." Ditson bought
out Parker’'s share in 1845 and established his own successful business; in
1857, Oliver Ditson & Company was founded, a firm which grew to be the lar-
gest of its kind in North America. A New York branch of the firm began in
1868, under the directorship of Charles Ditson, Oliver'’s brother. Charles
Ditson & Company was first located at 711 Broadway, and moved uptown to 843
Broadway before the headquarters at 867-71 Broadway was built. The com-
pany'’s successor, Oliver Ditson Company, continued to be important in the
music trade for many decades. It is said that Oliver Ditson’s success
stemmed from his ability to expand the musical appreciation of a wide
audience, and from his many personal contacts with professional musicians.
In addition, Ditson was president of Continental Bank for twenty years,
founder of the National Board of Music-Trade, and an avid supporter of the
New England Conservatory of Music. Ditson’s was a popular meeting place
for music buffs. Cowlinshaw Nicol & Company, upholsterers, also occupied
the building in the mid-1880s. John Forsythe’s, which carried a full line
of men’'s wear and furnishings, established itself in the large retail space
in the Ditson Building in the late 1890s, where it remained for some time.
In 1907, Forsythe's expanded its ground-level store into the adjacent buil-
ding to the south, 865 Broadway, and installed new storefronts in the two
buildings. Among the other early tenants of the building, representative
of those in the district, were Whiting Silver; G. Gulbenkian, oriental
goods; Paley & Rindskopf, cloaks and suits; and Michaelian Brothers, rugs.

The oddly-shaped site of the building, which extends 201 feet at the south
side of the rear of the lot, was previously occupied by two two-story
structures at 867 and 869 Broadway, a one-story corner structure at 871
Broadway, a one-story frame store at 24 East 18th Street and a one-story
brick store at 26 East 18th Street, all built sometime in the mid-nine-
teenth century. 1In the early 1850s, Egbert Mills, a carpenter, was lo-
cated at 871 Broadway. In the late 1850s, consistent with the first wave
of commercial development in the district, Hesse & Bartels, furniture,

was located at 867 Broadway, a tavern was located at 869 Broadway, and
James O’'Brien’s fruit store occupied the corner store at 861 Broadway. 1In
the 1870s, William Howell, a photographer, was located at 867 Broadway;
Richard Olmstead, corsets, and Thomas Lotan’s fruit store occupied 871
Broadway during that decade.
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ARCHITECTURE

BROADWAY FACADE

Sixty-nine feet wide, the Broadway facade has modern plate glass show win-
dows set in metal frames at the ground story. The existing storefront
frames may date from alterations of 1911 and 1912, although a corner en-
trance installed in 1912 has been removed. The current store entrance has
modern glass and aluminum doors. Above, the brick facade is articulated
vertically by three major bays containing rectangular square-headed window
openings arranged in a 4-4-3 pattern from south to north. The facade is
banded by flush stone sill and lintel courses, and accented by flush stone
quoins still visible beneath the paint. The second story window openings
have narrow brick voussoirs topped by applied beads and bezants, surmounted
by a molded stringcourse (some of the ornamental elements are now painted
beige). The second and third stories of the center bay are slighty re-
cessed; the third-story window openings have voussoirs and beads like those
below, topped by an inset acanthus frieze flanked by paterae in the flush
stone band. The fourth story of the center bay is also recessed and has a
splayed stone sill course. The window openings contain one-over-one wood
sash, although some have been replaced by metal slats. The fourth story

is surmounted by a corbel table capped by a stringcourse. Four projecting
piers, which divide the major bays, are supported by larger corbels. The
window openings at the fifth story are deeply recessed, with square-headed
lintels set in the reveals of the outer openings which have notched upper
corners and flat heads. The southern bay has four windows, the center bay
has two pairs of windows, and the northern bay has one pair of windows, all
separated by short stone pilasters set on raised pedestals and surmounted
by foliated capitals. A dentiled stringcourse caps the fifth story, sur-
mounted at the end bays by triangular gables with round finials at their
peaks, flanked by brick piers which project above the roofline where they
are accented by paterae. The southern gable has a panel inscribed with the
date, "1882," above a band of beadwork, and the smaller northern gable

also has a band of beadwork.

EAST 18TH STREET FACADE

The East 18th Street facade, 102 feet wide, has the same overall design and
articulation of detail as the Broadway facade, with a few variations. The
ground story has modern plate glass storefronts; some of the metal en-
framements appear to date from the earlier alterations. The westernmost
bay has a pedimented iron door surround with a deeply recessed doorway, and
a set of modern metal doors. Above, the facade is divided into seven bays,
each two windows wide. The five center bays of the second and third
stories are slightly recessed between the piers which culminate in shallow
segmental arches at the third story. Each pier is accented with an inset
quatrefoil medallion. The design of the fifth story is the same as that

on the Broadway facade, with corbeled piers flanking each bay and pro-
jecting above the roofline; the end bays have small triangular gables. A
fire escape with ornamental railings is installed at the third bay from the
western end of the facade.
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DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

*1882-83: NB 379-1882 [Source: New Building Application]

1907: Alt 474-1907 [Source: Alteration Application]

Construction of new show windows at 865, 867, and 869 Broadway and joining
of ground-level store with adjacent building, 865 Broadway.

Owner -- John Forsythe, et al. Builder -- Frank E. Perkins

1911: Alt 811-1911 [Source: Alteration Application]

Removal of store entrances on Broadway and East 18th St. and installation
of new show windows. Construction of corner entrance.

Architect -- Townsend, Steinle & Haskell

Owner -- Charles N. Ditson & Company

1912: Alt 2442-1912 [Source: Alteration Application]
Show windows reset with iron frames at Broadway building line.
Architect -- Townsend, Steinle & Haskell Owner -- Not Listed
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BROADWAY
Between East 18th Street and East 19th Street
EAST SIDE

874 BROADWAY between East 18th Street and East 19th Street (East Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 847/24]

MACINTYRE BUILDING

TYPE STYLE

Office and Store Romanesque Revival
ARCHITECT ORIGINAL OWNER
Robert Henderson Robertson Ewen McIntyre

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: 1890-92

SUMMARY

This handsome and distinctive ten-story office and store building sur-
mounted by a one and one-half story corner tower, was constructed during
the middle development phase of the district. Located on an L-shaped lot
at the northeast corner of Broadway and East 19th Streets, it extends
twenty-four feet along Broadway and 88 feet along East 18th Street. Built
in 1890-92 for Ewen McIntyre, it was designed in a highly individual ver-
sion of the Romanesque Revival style by the prominent architect, R. H.
Robertson. Its facades, clad in limestone, brick, and terra cotta, are
articulated by complex tripartite vertical compositions; ornamentation

is derived from Byzantine, Romanesque, Gothic, Renaissance, and Baroque
sources. The interior structure is a fireproof steel-frame with brick
bearing walls. Because of its conspicuous corner site, accentuated by the
diagonal of Broadway, the building is highly visible from several sur-
rounding blocks.

HISTORY

The "MacIntyre Building", so spelled in Roman tile mosaic in Pompeian
colors on the floor of the elevator lobby, was built for Ewen McIntyre

who spelled his name without an "a". Designed by R.H. Robertson, it was
built for $200,000, with ground floor stores and upper level offices. The
original owner, Ewen McIntyre, had operated a pharmacy at this location
called Ewen McIntyre & Son, Retail Druggists, since at least 1887. With
the construction of this building, he moved his store to 992 Sixth Avenue.
McIntyre was for many years the president of the College of Pharmacy of
New York.

The ground level was first occupied by the Sherman Bank which opened in
1892 and was described in 1893 as "one of the most elegant in the city"
including "entire separate quarters for the lady patrons"; it failed in
the depression beginning in 1893. An oval skylight and decorative details
from the banking room still survive. In 1910 the Greenwich Bank occupied
the corner space, and in 1928 another bank had the ground floor remodeled
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by George F. Pelham. Early upstairs office tenants included numerous small
companies dealing in the clothing and dry-goods industries of the neigh-
borhood. Staircases and mosaic tile floors still survive on the office-
level stories. In 1944 the McIntyre Building Corporation had at least

some of the offices converted for factory use. The elevator lobby and main
door were remodeled in recent years when the building was converted for
mixed residential and commercial use.

The MacIntyre Building is one of the most distinctive and distinguished in
the neighborhood. Praised by Montgomery Schuyler (he called it a building
which "every New Yorker knows by sight"), it is notable for its siting, its
"artistic" composition, the variety of its historic ornamental motifs, and
the quality of its craftsmanship.

ARCHITECTURE

BROADWAY FACADE

The Broadway facade of the MacIntyre Building is in an unusual tripartite
vertical composition with a two-part, four-story base; a five-story mid-
section; and a two and one-half story top. This very narrow facade (24
feet across) with a single major bay includes one, two, or three windows
framed by massive corner piers. All windows have original double-hung
wood sash.

The two-part limestone base contains the ground story and three stories
above it. The ground story is part of a single storefront unit with

an iron and glass projecting bay window that wraps around the corner of the
building so that there is a stone pier on the north side but only glass
around a visible interior column on the south. The limestone pier, rising
out of a polished granite base is articulated by an engaged colonnette

with an intricate Byzantine capital, and merges with a horizontal span-
drel capped by a molding. At the top and side of the bay window is a con-
cave molding with decorative bosses. This molding terminates at the bottom
in a carved animal mask. At the upper corner of the ground level is a
richly carved crest set in leaves with lions’ heads. The iron and glass
bay window itself has thin classical colonnettes supporting a projecting
cornice, linteled doorways, and a decorative grille at the base of the
corner. Only the doors themselves have been modernized.

The upper three-story part of the base, also in limestone, is framed in a
lightly scored but smooth wall articulated by corner colonnettes and con-
tinuations of the ground level colonnettes, and is crowned by a cornice.

Three windows at each floor are set off by Byzantine columns rising from

recessed spandrel panels.

The five-story midsection is articulated by four-story giant Doric brick
columns that culminate in a fifth-story giant arch with what appears to be
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terra-cotta decorative detail. The embellished capitals are connected by
an embellished belt course. The arch spandrels contain rich ornamentation
and smooth enframed marble panels. This level terminates in a cornice.
At each floor except the arch is a pair of windows. Each pair is framed
differently in moldings, columns, colonnettes, panels, and belt courses,
with the upper pair arched.

On this facade the top level is one side of a two and one-half story square
corner tower. It is framed in massive corner piers crowned by domed caps
with fleur-de-1lis finials. The outside corners of the piers are articu-
lated by engaged colonnettes culminating in richly carved ornament. The
upper parts of the piers are faceted with shallow niches. Between these
piers is a steeply pitched gable in front of a tiled pyramidal tower roof.
The gable is crowned by a giant cruciform finial; the roof is crowned by
a flag pole with a copper base. The eaves of the gable are articulated by
concave moldings with bosses. Windows in the tower consist of two stories
of three windows culminating in an arcade, fronted by semi-circular bal-
conies, with carved lunettes, all beneath a single round window in the
gable. Wall surfaces in the tower are brick with ornamental features

in a mixture of terra cotta and carved stone.

EAST 18TH STREET FACADE

The East 18th Street facade multiplies the single-bay Broadway facade de-
sign into five bays within the following overall framework: the East 18th
Street facade is five bays across with end bays (identical to Broadway
through the ninth story) and three narrow central bays; the tower projects
only above the corner bay and thus only the corner bay is identical to
Broadway from ground to roof; the first-story storefronts are recessed
instead of projecting as bay windows east of the corner bay; the top level
east of the corner bay is a longer variation of the lower floor of the
corner tower.

At the first story the corner storefront is an iron and glass bay window
identical to that on Broadway except it has no doors. The second and
third storefronts, identical to each other and unaltered, have decorative
grilles beneath plate glass windows with a pair of transoms. The fourth
storefront, its framing, transoms and overall arrangement intact - half of
it is a recessed entry - has an altered base. The eastern end bay, intact
in its overall framing and arrangement - it has a street level doorway and
a steep stairway of iron steps entered between original iron newel posts
to the basement - has had some of its glass and its basement door replaced
by solid panels.

The top level (tenth story) east of the corner tower is a continuous
Byzantine arcade, identical to that in the corner tower except for a

more pronounced cornice. This long, horizontal motif is framed by massive
brick piers at either end; in between, the rising vertical piers of the
brick-clad iron and steel structural skeleton are de-emphasized by receding

68



Broadway Between East 18th Street and East 19th Street (East Side)
continuation of . . . No. 874 Broadway

them behind the colonnade and articulating them with relieving arches
identical in size to the windows on either side. These vertical piers pro-
ject above the cornice where they are tied together by iron bars (original-
ly a balustrade of narrowly spaced colonnettes).

NORTHERN ELEVATION

The northern elevation is largely an unornamented solid brick wall except
at the back side of the tower. There, face brick replaces the common
brick of the rest of the wall, and decorative detail embellishes the tower
corner and gable eaves.

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

*1890: NB 1430-1890 [Source: New Building Application]

*1928: Alt 567-1928 [Source: Alteration Application]
New iron front for first floor bank; office use above.
Architect -- George Frederick Pelham

Owner -- Ewen McIntyre (Estate of)

1944-45: Alt 265-1944 [Source: Alteration Application]
Offices and lofts converted to factory.
Architect -- Martyn Weinstein Owner -- McIntyre Building Corporation
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876-878 BROADWAY between East 18th Street and East 19th Street (East Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 847/22]

HESS BUILDING

TYPE STYLE

Store and Warehouse Commercial palace
ARCHITECT ORIGINAL OWNER
Henry Fernbach David S. Hess
BUILDER

Alex Brown, Jr.
DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: 1883-84
SUMMARY

This six-story store and warehouse building, characteristic of the middle
development phase of the district, is located near the East 18th Street end
of the block. Forty-one feet wide, the building has a facade of brick with
brownstone trim which is surmounted by a mansard roof. Built in 1883-84,
it was designed by Henry Fernbach for the prominent decorating company of
D. S. Hess. Notable features include company initials and other symbols on
carved sandstone pilaster panels. Above the ground level, windows are ori-
ginal in the end bays but have been replaced with metal sash in the central
section.

HISTORY

The Hess Building, designed by the prominent architect, Henry Fernbach,
was constructed in 1883-84 as a warehouse for David S. Hess, a furniture
dealer with a well-known decorating business, replacing two smaller resid-
ential structures. It was altered extensively when Hess moved uptown in
1898. D.S. Hess & Co. had been on 23rd Street prior to moving here and
afterwards was at 421 Fifth Avenue, always operating a second outlet as
well, first on Eleventh Avenue and later on East 75th Street.

In 1898 the building was converted for Alfred Bridgeman into smaller
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office and loft spaces, and the building was occupied by a variety of
clothing, upholstery, and rug dealers, characteristic tenants within the
district.

A ground-story pilaster was replaced by a slender cast-iron column (sub-
sequently covered but not removed) in 1898. The present fire escape was
added after 1910. The storefronts and doors have been remodeled in recent
years. Inside, partitions have been removed and there is a single loft
space on each floor. The building is now occupied by both residential

and commercial tenants.

ARCHITECTURE

BROADWAY FACADE

The Broadway facade of the Hess Building is organized as a tripartite com-
position with a one-story base, a three-story midsection, and a one-story
top, the whole surmounted by a mansard roof. Ornamentation is derived
from Renaissance and Baroque sources, but the original color paletteof
the facade is very much in keeping with the period. A 20th-century
decorative wrought-iron fire escape drops down the middle of the facade.
All windows above the first story have original double-hung one-over-one
wood sash except in the three central bays of the shaft which are metal.

The base has end bays framed by stylized Ionic pilasters (the second pil-
aster from the left is missing and all the capitals are damaged); the
entrance bays flank a central glass-fronted commercial space. Each pilaster
panel is embellished with a traditional Renaissance design, modernized and
made specific to this building in its details. These details, which refer
to the design and manufacture of furniture by D.S. Hess & Co., include
drafting equipment, builder’s tools, architectural elements, and the leaves
of different kinds of trees (presumably representing different woods used
in furniture making). The capitals, which have suffered the loss of their
volutes, retain the inner skeleton of an Ionic capital resting on a bed of
acanthus and other leaves, and enclosing flowers and other decorations.

The doors and storefront are modern aluminum and glass remodelings, ex-
cept for the transom over the south entry.

The three-story midsection has slightly projecting one-window end bays and
a three-window center section with cast-iron columns. It is further differ-
entiated by a more richly decorated lower story beneath simpler upper
stories. The lower story contains pilasters with embellished panels and

a cornice. These panels include swans and the initial "H" for Hess. The
upper stories are visually stretched by the placement, above and below
windows, of flush bandcourses of different widths, and decorative panels.
Flagpoles are cantilevered from the left end bay of the second story and
the right end bay of the third story. Present window framing in the cen-
tral section consists of double-hung, four-over-four, steel sash in the

71



Broadway Between East 18th Street and East 19th Street (East Side)
continuation of . . . No. 876-878 Broadway

central and right side windows, and center opening casements below three-
light transoms at the fire escape landings on the left side.

The top story contains brick pilasters with recessed arcades in both the
central section and end bays. The facade culminates in a projecting
cornice. The slate-covered mansard roof contains a wide central dormer
and narrow end dormers. The pilasters on the central dormer carry a
segmental pediment inside of which are the superimposed initials "D.H."
for David Hess. The end dormers are pedimented. The roof is terminated
in a compound molding.

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

*1883: NB 640-1883 [Source: New Building Application]

1898: Alt 450-1898 [Source: Alteration Application]

Building divided in two by partition, elevator installed, and storefront
remodeled.

Architect -- DeBaud & Mowbray Owner -- Bridgeman (Estate of)

Builder -- Edward J. Kobert
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880-886 BROADWAY between East 18th Street and East 19th Street (East Side)

[Tax Map Block/Lots: 847/27, 1001 & 1002]

W. & J. SLOANE BUILDING

TYPE STYLE

Store and Warehouse Commercial palace
ARCHITECT ORIGINAL OWNER
William Wheeler Smith William D. Sloane
BUILDER TENANT/LESSEE
P.T. O'Brien & Son W. & J. Sloane

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: 1882,1898
SUMMARY

The W. & J. Sloane Store and Warehouse is a two-building complex located
at the southeast corner of Broadway and East 19th Street with an addition-
al wing extending through the block to East 18th Street. Among the most
distinctive buildings constructed during the middle development phase of
the district, these structures, designed by William Wheeler Smith, were
built in 1881-82 and 1898, the first a six-story retail store, the

second a nine-story warehouse, for the prominent rug and carpet firm of

W. & J. Sloane. The design is highly expressive of the internal brick

and iron structure, and ornamentation is derived primarily from Renaiss-
ance and Baroque sources with some Gothic details. Materials of the ma-
jor skeletal grid are stone for the base and horizontal members, and

red Haverford brick with stone and terra-cotta trim for the vertical mem-
bers. One and two-story window units framed in the form of minor pilasters
and decorated beams are of cast iron. The windows have double-hung wood
sash. The complex is now two separate buildings with the addresses 880-886
Broadway and 32-38 East 19th Street/33-35 East 18th Street. This division
does not correspond to the form of the buildings as originally constructed.

HISTORY

The first portion of the W. & J. Sloane Building was constructed in
1881-1882 for $400,000 on an irregular 20,000 square foot, L-shaped parcel
at the southeast corner of Broadway and East 19th Street with an additional
frontage on East 18th Street. The site was assembled from the purchase of
two lots and the twenty-one year lease of a third from Mrs. Sackett and
Mrs. Olliffe, heirs of the estate of Cornelius T. Williams who had ac-
quired the property in 1821. This original building measured 128 feet,
6-1/2 inches on Broadway (number 880-886) and 180 feet on East 19th

Street (number 32-34); it ran 184 feet through the middle of the block
from East 19th to East 18th Street and had a 47 foot,7 inch frontage on
East 18th Street (number 33-35). It was built as a retail store with six
floors above ground and a full basement below, 1lit by sidewalk lights.

In 1898 a major nine-story, forty-foot wide addition was made to the east
side of the building on East 19th Street (number 36-38) to serve as a
carpet warehouse. Both the original building and the 1898 addition were
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designed by the prominent architect William Wheeler Smith.

The firm of W. & J. Sloane was founded by William Sloane, who died in
1879. Sloane was an experienced weaver who emigrated from Scotland in
1834 and opened his first store on Broadway across from City Hall in 1843.
He was joined by his brother John in 1852 and the name of the store then
became W. & J. Sloane. The store later moved to 649-655 Broadway and sub-
sequently, in 1882, to 19th and Broadway.

Sloane began by selling carpets and floor oilcloths. Over the years the
store expanded its product line and acquired an elite clientele. 1In
1876 at the close of the Philadelphia Centennial Exposition, the firm
bought the entire exhibit of oriental rugs, thus becoming the first
American retail seller.

The business was taken over by the founder’'s three sons, William D., a
well-known philanthropist who built the Sloane and Vanderbilt Clinics and
was a vice president of City and Suburban Homes; Henry T., who opened the
first branch store, in San Francisco in 1875, and John. Under John's lead-
ership (president 1891-1905), the store grew in business volume and stature
becoming "one of the largest concerns of its kind in the United States" and
known "throughout this country and abroad." As a wholesale as well as a
retail dealer, W. & J. Sloane supplied major stores throughout the country.
It also controlled major mills in the United States and Europe. It estab-
lished purchasing offices in Kobe, Canton, and in Europe and opened new
branch stores in Washington, D. C., and London. The store also opened up-
holstery and antiques departments and had one of the first decorating de-
partments in a retail store. In this capacity it decorated the Waldorf
Astoria, the Savoy, and the Plaza Hotels, and provided rugs for the
coronation of Nicholas II of Russia.

After Sloane’s moved uptown to Fifth Avenue and 47th Street in 1912, the
building was subdivided and leased to numerous tenants for both salesrooms
and light manufacturing. In 1923 a new party wall was built parallel to
the 1898 addition beginning at a point 143 feet east of Broadway (corre-
sponding to number 32). Interior alterations were made in 1924 which
unified those portions of the building west of the new party wall. The
result was to sever from the original corner building that portion of it
which ran through the block from East 19th to East 18th Street, and to join
it to the 1898 addition. This created two separate buildings, one the
result of the 1881 and 1898 building campaigns, and the other a portion of
the 1881 campaign. Each was usually referred to as a factory in building
permit applications. In the 1940s and 1950s the building was known as the
Schwartz Building. In recent years, the corner building has reverted to
retail use. Most of the tenants in 32-38 East 19th Street are dance
studios.

The building is an early and impressive example of the kind of straight-
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forward skeletal design for a commercial building that is generally asso-
ciated with Chicago. Its simple, interior structural system of iron
columns and beams is reflected on the exterior. Of interest in the
interior are the decorative iron columns on each floor and the mezzanine
at the first floor with decorative iron railing. In 1889, the German
writer Carl Hinckeldeyn saw in it "a true artistic spirit." It received
votes in the polling of the architectural profession for the "best ten
buildings" in America. More recently it has also been praised for the
quality of its decorative detail, including its cast-iron storefronts with
their floral designs, and the sculptural terra-cotta trim on the brick
columns, especially the faces of the third and fifth stories.

ARCHITECTURE

BROADWAY FACADE

The six-story Broadway facade is layered to reflect the skeletal grid
rather than a hierarchy of parts. It has a one-story base, a midsection
of two two-story tiers separated by a minor cornice and terminated in a
major cornice, and a one-story attic. Five bays across, each bay is two
windows wide except the middle bay which is three windows wide.

At the first story squat pilasters with stylized Ionic capitals are placed
against broad piers which support a Doric entablature with triglyphs. The
first, second, and fourth bays contain display windows with cast-iron col-
umns and bulkheads of decorative iron grilles. These storefronts have been
modified by moving the glass from behind the columns to the plane of the
outside wall. Columns are graceful, unfluted shafts with a flower and leaf
design on the pedestals, palm fronds on the shafts, and elaborately voluted
capitals. The central bay, wider than the others, is the principal entryway
into the store. Divided by a fluted and banded granite column with an
elaborate capital, the bay is an open, wood-paneled vestibule with
ornamental iron lamps and original sliding security gates that can be
hidden behind tall narrow doors. The southernmost bay, originally a
storefront divided by a cast-iron column, has been completely modernized as
the entry to an elevator and stair lobby.

Above the ground level is a two-tiered midsection articulated by two-story
pilasters, unusual in design, but drawing primarily from the Ionic. In
the lower tier the pilasters have richly carved, multi-voluted capitals
and, in the frieze of the entablature, decorative panels, one of which
incorporates the year of construction (1881) in Roman numerals. From

left to right, the capitals include an owl, a bird, a horn of plenty, a
satyr, a bird, and a monster. Between the major pilasters, slightly re-
cessed cast-iron window framing consists of small pilasters with decorative
surfaces. The upper tier is similar, with the details of its decorative
trim and surfaces different. Most notable are the carved figures in the
pilaster capitals, from left to right, an angel, an eagle, a man, (un-
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known), a dog, and a youth.

The attic level is articulated by squat, simple pilasters. It is surmount-
ed by a parapet wall broken by continuations of the vertical piers.

EAST 19TH STREET FACADE

The East 19th Street facade has nine bays of varying widths across: the
westernmost bay is three windows wide, the easternmost bay is five windows
wide, and all the bays in between are two windows wide. On the first
eight bays west of Broadway, the facade is similar to the Broadway facade.
The nine-story, ninth bay, built later, is harmonious but somewhat dif-
ferent in design. In addition, the easternmost three bays, now part of a
separate building, are set apart from the rest by dark painted window fram-
ing and new aluminum window sash.

At the base, the first and fourth bays east of Broadway (the latter having
once been a public entrance to the building) are similar to the Broadway
storefronts. The second, third, and fifth bays possess simplified pil-
asters with Doric capitals that enclose recently glassed-in display win-
dows. Like the Broadway display windows, each of these possesses a single
cast-iron column (except the first bay where there are two columns, each
missing its capital). The sixth-bay display window is not enclosed; how-
ever, most of the surface behind the cast-iron column is remodeled with
solid walls. The seventh and eighth bays, whose division into two stories
is reflected by galvanized iron spandrel panels, are altered at the ground
story with modern rolling security doors.

The next two midsection tiers are different from Broadway only in some of
their decorative details. 1In the lower tier most pilaster capitals are
Doric with a floral band in each echinus. 1In the first and fourth bays,
however, the capital is more nearly Ionic, each one with different plant
motifs around the volutes. In the upper tier the capitals are Doric with
three raised bosses in each echinus except at the first and fourth bays
where there are angels, a lion, and a mask in the capitals. The cast-iron
window framing in the first bay includes a decorated beam between the
second and third stories with an "S" for Sloane flanked by putti. Similar-
ly, the attic design and the parapet above it are the same as on Broadway.

The nine-story easternmost bay is similar to the original eight bays for
its lower six floors as follows: 1its first story is a continuation of
the two bays immediately to the west, each of the two midsection tiers
is divided horizontally by a galvanized iron spandrel, the attic level
is treated as a brick wall with windows between its framing pilasters,
and then it rises another three stories. The additional three stories
are organized in two similarly treated tiers with windows framed by
pilasters.

Above the ground story, original windows are intact in the six bays east
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of Broadway. In the last three bays, however, all windows have been re-
placed by double-hung aluminum sash.

EAST 18TH STREET FACADE

The East 18th Street facade is a simplified variation of the more important
Broadway and East 19th Street facades. The dominant character is that of a
straightforward commercial building with a clear articulation of its col-
umns and beams and an infill of double-hung windows (now all replaced with
aluminum sash) separated by thin brick piers.

The brick facade is two bays wide, each bay containing three windows. The
outside piers rise unbroken, except for flush stone bands, from ground to
roof; corbeled brick courses articulate the second, fourth, sixth, and
seventh stories. Stone bands are placed at the levels of sills, lintels,
and corbelled brick courses.

Wall surfaces are intact except at the base where the left hand bay is
covered by aluminum panels (the original materials may survive underneath).
Only the iron columns separating second story windows are visible. In the
right hand bay both cast-iron members and brick surfaces are visible, but
all window and door openings have been modernized.

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

*1881-82: NB 508-1881 [Source: New Building Application]

1898: NB 136-1898 [Source: New Building Application]
Nine-story annex constructed at 36-38 East 19th Street.
Architect -- William Wheeler Smith Owner -- W. & J. Sloane

1923: Alt 963-1923 [Source: Alteration Docket]

Party wall constructed within original building, separating 880-886 Broad-
way and 32-34 East 19th Street.

Architect -- Buchman & Kahn Owner -- Emily G. Olliffe (Estate of)

1924: Alt 2325-1924 [Source: Alteration Docket]
Buildings linked at 32-38 East 19th Street and 33-35 East 18th Street.
Architect -- William F. Regan Owner -- Regnis Holding Company

1924: Alt 679-1924 [Source: Alteration Application]

New first and mezzanine floors for linked buildings at 32-38 East 19th
Street and 33-35 East 18th Street.

Architect -- Jean Jeaume Owner -- Regnis Holding Corporation
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BROADWAY
Between East 18th Street and East 19th Street
WEST SIDE

873-879 BROADWAY between East 18th Street and East 19th Street (West Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 847/16]

HOYT BUILDING

TYPE STYLE

Store and Loft Second Empire Commercial
ARCHITECT ORIGINAL OWNER

Griffith Thomas Edwin Hoyt

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: 1868/1888

SUMMARY

This six- and eight-story Second Empire Commercial store building, charac-
teristic of the first commercial development phase of the district, is lo-
cated at the northwest corner of Broadway and West 18th Street, extending
110 feet along Broadway and 176 feet along East 18th Street. Designed by
Griffith Thomas for the prominent merchant Edwin Hoyt, it was built in two
stages in 1868 and 1888. Faced in rose-colored marble over a brick and
cast-iron structure, it is notable for its rich facade of stacked arch
orders. Most storefronts have been completely altered, although the two-
over-two double-hung wood sash above the first story appear to be largely
intact.

HISTORY

The Hoyt Building, constructed in 1868 for Edwin Hoyt, a prominent mer-
chant, of Hoyt, Spragues & Co. (formerly Hoyt & Bogart, then Hoyt & Til-
linghast), was designed by Griffith Thomas in the same year and in the same
style as the Arnold Constable & Co. store next door. Alterations to both
buildings beginning in 1872 altered the appearance of each in different
ways so that today, although the second through fifth floors of each retain
the same basic design, the overall character of each building is different.

In 1888, by which time the Hoyt Building was functioning as two equal sized
dry goods stores facing on Broadway, the southern half of the building, at
the corner, was extended west twenty-three feet, and the northern half of
the building in the middle of the block was extended west and south to East
18th Street so that it formed an "L" around the corner store. Each exten-
sion was eight stories high and clad in marble in the same design as the
original for the lower five stories and a complementary design above. The
architects Delemos and Cordes undertook this work for Solomon Loeb. (Loeb
was one of the twenty largest owners of real estate in New York, according
to the New York Herald in 1897).

In 1905, the original building received a one-story rooftop addition de-
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signed by Thomas Styles for James Irving Raymond, owner of Vantines, who
bought the building after Solomon Loeb died. It was presumably at this
time that the original parapets including balustrades, finials, and central
pediments were removed and, on the Broadway side, decorative iron balconies
were added at each floor. 1In 1923, the seventh and eighth floors of the
1888 extensions were converted from storage to factory use. This work was
done by the builder, Levy & Berger.

The Hoyt Building has housed numerous small dry-goods dealers and depart-
ment stores, and for a few years in the 1870s, Herter Brothers. In the
beginning the building apparently housed numerous tenants simultaneously.
But the building is most closely associated with two long-term tenants,
Aitken Son & Co. from 1875 to about 1912, and A.A. Vantine, from 1887 to
about 1912. Each occupied half the building. Aitken Son & Co. sold gauze,
lace,ribbons and trimmings, and A.A. Vantine, known as "The Oriental Store"
called itself "the largest collection in the world" of imported items from
"the Orient," offering goods from Japan, China, Turkey, India, Persia, and
Egypt. Between 1920 and 1951 a bank occupied the corner space on the
ground level.

Since 1905, the exterior has been altered very little except at the ground
level where oly some fragments of the old arcaded storefronts remain.

ARCHITECTURE

BROADWAY FACADE

The Broadway facade is a composition of stacked arch orders with a
slightly projecting central pavilion, all faced in rose-colored marble.
The ground floor has been extensively remodeled and the top floor is a
simply detailed brick addition. The facade is twelve bays wide framed by
rusticated corner piers. Ornamentation is derived from Renaissance and
Baroque sources. Although the original ground floor fabric has been com-
pletely altered, fragments remain of classically-detailed elements that are
compatible with the original design. The corner store is sheathed in
stainless steel, probably from after 1945, and the transoms are covered by
signs and awnings not more than thirty years old. Earlier fabric probably
exists underneath. The second store has an early 20th-century storefront
with an outside vestibule between angled glass walls to a recessed entry.
The glass storefronts are framed with iron at the sides and newer aluminum
at the entryway corners and have black vitrolite bases. The vestibule
ceiling is pressed metal and the door transom is stained glass and maybe
earlier than 1910. The transoms above the shop are framed with very simple
moldings (probably 1910-1940). The third store (number 873) is completely
modernized. The main building entry, with its massive frame and simple
cornice, appears to date from 1910-1940. North of the main entry the
single large store (number 879) has a handsome iron and glass storefront
with curved glass corners to a recessed entry way. The glass curves
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around exposed "H" type cast-iron columns. The entry door itself is of re-
cent aluminum construction. The transoms are obscured by a modern sign but
may be simply framed square windows in place by 1910.

The second through fourth stories are designed in a series of modified
Doric arch orders with segmental arches and pilasters. A six-bay central
pavilion is articulated at each story by engaged Corinthian columns sup-
porting a balcony that is most prominent in the four central bays. The
fifth story is a round-arched arch order with tall pilasters in two sec-
tions, paneled below the impost and embellished with a vegetal motif above
it. These pilasters carry a bracketed cornice, slightly projecting in the
central six bays where there was originally a pediment. The top story is a
plain brick wall in running bond, slightly lower in height than the floors
below, with square windows and two simply detailed projecting cornices.
The windows on all the upper stories are double hung and of wooden sash.
The balustrades in the two central bays of the second story have been re-
moved. At the two central bays of the third through sixth stories are
decorative iron balustrades of a different design at each level.

EAST 18TH STREET FACADE

The East 18th Street facade is in a stacked composition with a decorated
flat central pavilion and differentiated end bays, all in marble. The
ground story is partly remodeled. The top story is a simply detailed brick
addition except at the western end bay which continues upward in marble
with an attic story surmounted by a two-story arch order. The end bays are
miniatures of the Broadway facade, three windows wide at the eastern end,
framed by rusticated piers, and two groups of three windows at the western
end. The ground story is mostly walled up at its eastern end, and devoid
of original design features except for the shadows of four segmental
arches, covered by modern rolling gates, and one rusticated pier. At the
western end, at the bases of the two groups of three windows, segmental
arches on Corinthian cast-iron columns (their lower halves missing) and a
metal cornice over the westernmost three windows, are intact.

Between the end bays, the second through fifth stories consist of tiers of
ten windows with decorative architraves in a lightly scored stone wall. The
windows have segmental arches to the fourth story and round arches in the
fifth. The central pavilion is articulated by closely paired central win-
dows with a triangular pediment, a segmental pediment, and a prominent lin-
tel respectively over the second, third, and fourth stories. At the fifth
story, smooth pilasters carry a projecting section of the cornice above
which was originally a pediment.

Above the western end bay, the additional stories are framed at the sides
and in the middle with smooth pilaster orders. These are superimposed over
smaller orders at the attic level and the upper arcade level. Arcade span-
drels are embellished with a floral design and the order is surmounted by
a frieze of sways. The original cornice at the top of the wall has been
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removed.

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

*1868: NB 657-1868 [Source: New Building Application]

1882: Alt 1019-1882 [Source: Alteration Application]

Chimney and passenger elevator installed, new entry, storefront, and other
modifications.

Architect -- Stephen D. Hatch Owner -- Sir Bache Cunard

Builder -- R.L. Domih

*1888: Alt 148-1888 [Source: Alteration Application]

873-875 Broadway extended west and increased to eight stories; 877-879 ex-
tended west and increased to eight stories; fronts clad in marble.
Architect -- DeLemos & Cordes Owner -- Solomon Loeb

*1905: Alt 3420-1905 [Source: Alteration Application]
Story added on Broadway side.
Architect -- Thomas H. Styles Owner -- James Irving Raymond

1923: Alt 218-1923 [Source: Alteration Docket]
Seventh and eighth floors converted from storage to factory.
Owner -- Phoenix Commercial Co., Inc. Builder -- Levy & Berger
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881-887 BROADWAY between East 18th Street and East 19th Street (West Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 847/62 in part]

ARNOLD CONSTABLE & CO. BUILDING

TYPE STYLE

Department Store Second Empire Commercial
ARCHITECT ORIGINAL OWNER

Griffith Thomas Aaron Arnold

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: 1868-1876
SUMMARY

This seven-story Second Empire Commercial department store building, char-
acteristic of the first commercial development phase of the district, oc-
cupies the entire northern half of the block along East 19th Street from
Broadway to Fifth Avenue. (The immense ammount of northern light this pro-
vided was considered a benefit for the sale of merchandise which could
fade in bright sun light). Designed by Griffith Thomas in 1868 for the
prominent dry-goods company of Arnold Constable, it was altered and ex-
tended in several subsequent campaigns. Faced in marble, brick, and cast-
iron, now painted, over a brick and cast-iron structure, it is notable for
its rich facade of stacked arch orders and its prominent, two-story, pavi-
lioned mansard roof. Its entire ground level has been altered.
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HISTORY

The original east end of the Arnold Constable & Co. building (83 feet on
Broadway, 171 feet on East 19th Street), constructed in 1868, was designed
by Griffith Thomas in the same year and in the same style as the Hoyt
Building next door. Alterations to both buildings beginning in 1872 al-
tered the appearance of each in different ways so that today, although the
second through fifth floors of each retain the same basic design, the over-
all character of each building is different.

In 1872, the building was extended west fifty feet and given an entry on
East 19th Street. A two-story mansard roof was added to the whole requir-
ing removal of most of the original parapet, balustrade, and finials. In
1876, the building was extended west an additional 150 feet to Fifth Avenue
to accommodate the wholesale department which moved here from another site.
It was built in the style of the building as altered in 1872, but its orna-
mentation was executed in cast iron instead of marble. Both expansions
were designed by Griffith Thomas. 1In 1883, a perpendicular wing, connected
at the basement and ground floor and by a four-story bridge above, was
built on the south to East 18th Street in the middle of the block. (Be-
cause this is by a different architect in a different style and is not
structurally or visually part of the main block, it is discussed as a sepa-
rate entry at 9-13 East 18th Street). In 1915 the whole complex was con-
verted for use as a wholesale store. In recent years various retail
establishments have occupied the ground floor and the upper stories have
been converted for office use.

Arnold Constable & Co. had its origins in the establishment by Aaron
Arnold, an immigrant from the Isle of Wight, of a small dry goods store at
91 Front Street in 1825. As the business prospered he moved into larger
quarters and took on as partners two nephews, George and James Hearn. The
name of the store was Arnold and Hearn until 1842 when the Hearns left the
company to establish their own business. At that time, the name was
changed again to A. Arnold & Co. In the same year, James Constable, an
employee who would marry Arnold’'s daughter Henrietta, was made a partner,
and in 1853 the name was changed to Arnold Constable & Co. In 1857, the
store moved to a new and larger building with frontages on Canal, Mercer,
and Howard Streets. In the late 1860s, the company bought the present
site, then occupied by two and one-half story brick buildings, from Edwin
Hoyt.

At the time the store moved to its present location it was the second
largest dry goods store in New York. When the building was extended in
1872, it added carpet and upholstery divisions becoming a full department
store. When it expanded to Fifth Avenue in 1876-1877 to accommodate the
wholesale department it was said to be "one of the largest business estab-
lishments in the world." After that time the first and second floors at
the Broadway end were for dry goods, the third through fifth floors were
for upholstery and carpets, the sixth and seventh floors were for manufac-
turing, and the Fifth Avenue end was for wholesale operations with general
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offices on the second floor. The business was enormously successful, with
so much profit to invest that in 1897 the New York Herald called Arnold
Constable & Co. the fifth largest owner of real estate in the city.

In 1914, this store was closed and the business moved uptown to Fifth Ave-
nue and 40th Street. 1In 1925 the store merged with Stewart & Co.

In its heyday, Arnold Constable & Co. was the largest dealer to the elite
carriage trade in New York City, supplying the latest fashions to a clien-
tele that included the leading families in the city. The wives and fami-
lies of Grover Cleveland, Andrew Carnegie, Thomas Edison, J.P. Morgan, John
D. Rockefeller, and Cornelius Vanderbilt are a few of those who maintained
accounts here. The company was known throughout the United States; it em-
ployed buyers throughout the world and had offices in Paris and Lyon. The
building with its great mansard roof was one of the notable buildings of
the period and represented, at the height of its popularity, the influence
of French fashion in clothing, interior furnishings, and architecture.

When the whole building was completed, the New York Herald said, "By a nice
arrangement and symmetrical adaptation of all its parts the massiveness of
the structure is pleasantly relieved, and the building thus rendered, from
an architectural point of view, one of the finest edifices in the city."
Also at that time it was viewed as a symbol of New York'’s recovery from the
financial crisis of the 1870s and its development as "the commercial center
of America." At the same time it is an outstanding early representative of
a major transformation in retail merchandising in Europe and America in

the 19th century that accompanied the industrial revolution and the
development of new ways of organizing business and industry. Arnold
Constable & Co. is one of the leading examples of the department store as a
new institution that had a major impact on the lives of the people of its
time.

ARCHITECTURE

BROADWAY FACADE

The Broadway facade is in a composition of stacked arch orders with a
slightly projecting central pavilion, surmounted by a boldly scaled two-
story mansard roof. The building is clad in marble, now painted, with the
cornice and roof of iron with slate shingles. The facade is nine bays wide
and framed by rusticated corner piers. While the ornamentation of the main
facade is derived from Renaissance and Baroque sources, the roof is French
Second Empire. The ground level has been totally remodeled.

The second through fourth stories are designed in a series of modified
Doric arch orders with segmental arches and pilasters. A three-bay central
pavilion is articulated at each floor by engaged Corinthian columns sup-
porting a balcony that is most prominent in the central bay. The third-
story balcony has heavy corner finials. The fifth story is a round-arched
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order with tall pilasters in two sections, paneled below the impost and
embellished with a vegetal motif above it. These pilasters carry a brack-
eted cornice, slightly projecting in the central six bays beneath a pedi-
ment. The windows on all the upper stories are double-hung, two-over-two
wood sash.

The mansard roof is in three major parts, with square corner pavilions con-
nected by hyphens to a central pavilion. All walls are battered, with
those in the central pavilion curving upward, and all are surmounted by
cresting except the central pavilion. Lower level windows and those in the
central pavilion are set in rich pedimented frames, with those in the upper
level, round arched, in simple moldings.

EAST 19TH STREET FACADE

The block-long East 19th Street facade is in three main sections framed by
end bays and surmounted by a mansard roof. The three main sections are
separated by full-height rusticated piers. The central section is a series
of stacked arcades, all in marble, flanked by brick sections (originally
red) with stone trim. The end bays are miniature versions of the main
facades, each two windows wide and identical in design. The eastern end
bay is in marble like the Broadway facade and the western end bay is in
cast iron like the Fifth Avenue facade. The entire facade, including
brick, marble, and cast-iron sections, have been painted. The ground floor
is totally remodeled. Windows have two-over two wooden sash.

The central section consists of segmental arches on paneled pilasters in
the second through fourth stories and round arches on paneled pilasters
above. The side sections with brick walls in running bond consist of tiers
of fourteen windows with decorative architraves and a decorated flat cen-
tral pavilion articulated by closely paired central windows. These have,
respectively, a triangular pediment, a segmental pediment, and a prominent
lintel over the second, third, and fourth stories. At the fifth story,
pilasters carry a projecting section of the cornice on which rests a pedi-
ment. The second story of the eastern side section is higher than the re-
mainder of the second story.

The mansard roof is in six major pavilions connected by hyphens. All but
one pavilion have battered walls with two of those having curved walls, and
there is cresting over all but the curved walled pavilions, the irregular
square block, and the Fifth Avenue corner. Above the end bays are square
pavilions; above the central section is one square pavilion like those
above the end bays, and one without battered walls; above the side sections
are big curved pavilions. Lower level windows and those in the curved
pavilions are set in rich pedimented frames, with those in the upper level,
round arched, in simple moldings. The one irregular square pavilion with-
out battered walls has high arched windows in a paneled pilaster order.
There is an iron chimney stack next to this pavilion.
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FIFTH AVENUE FACADE

The Fifth Avenue facade is identical in all respects save the following to
the Broadway facade: it is executed in cast iron; the balconies have been
removed from the second through fourth stories and have been patched with
wood planks; windows in the top story of the roof have new glass; and por-
tions of the rooftop cresting are missing and damaged.

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

*1868: NB 443-1868 [Source: New Building Application]

*1872: Alt 133-1872 [Source: Alteration Application]

Original building extended 50 feet west on East 19th and two-story mansard
roof added to the whole.

Architect -- Griffith Thomas Owner -- Aaron Arnold

Builder -- John T. Conover

1876: NB 250-1876 [Source: New Building Docket]

Building extended west to Fifth Avenue.

Architect -- Griffith Thomas Owner -- Aaron Arnold (deceased)
Builder -- James Webb & Son

1915: Alt 1783-1915 [Source: Alteration Application]

Conversion of whole complex for wholesale business: entries, windows,
interiors, altered and northwest corner cupola removed.

Architect -- Cady & Gregory Owner -- Henrietta Constable (Estate of)
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BROADWAY
Between East 19th Street and East 20th Street
EAST SIDE

890-892 BROADWAY between East 19th Street and East 20th Street (East Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 848/18]

TYPE STYLE

Store and Lofts neo-Renaissance
ARCHITECT ORIGINAL OWNER
John B. Snook & Sons Almy G. Gallatin

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: 1897-8/1898-99?
DESCRIPTION

Two buildings with a common facade and common entrance on Broadway, located
at the northeast corner of Broadway and 19th Street, were joined to create
this eight-story store and loft building, characteristic of the later
development of the district. Faced with gray iron-spot Roman brick, trim-
med with stone and terra cotta, the building extends ninety-six feet along
Broadway and 168 feet along 19th street. Piers divide the Broadway facade
into six bays and the 19th Street facade into twelve bays; cornices

above the first, third, and seventh stories create a 1-2-4-1 story group-
ing.

On the Broadway facade much of the ground story has been altered. The piers
in the northern three bays have been refaced, a theater entrance (now being
altered) has been inserted into the second bay, and new shopfronts have
been installed in the first and third bays. The fourth bay still retains
its original arched entrance portal framed by Ionic columns and entablature
and featuring garlanded spandrel panels and a recent marblized sign. The
two southern bays are currently concealed by a wood shed. This story is
crowned by a dentiled iron entablature. On the second and third stories
the piers are articulated as partially fluted giant Corinthian pilasters
with stone bases and terra-cotta capitals. Smaller brick piers with
rounded corners divide the bays into two window openings which contain
their original one-over-one wood sash windows. The second-story windows
have stone lintels topped by a molded string course and the window sills
are underlined with a dentil course providing a strong horizontal accent

to counter the verticality of the piers. On the fourth through seventh
stories the piers are again faced with pilasters which extend unbroken for
four stories and are enriched with fluting at the fourth and seventh stor-
ies. The articulation of the window bays is identical with that of the
lower stories. On the eighth story the piers are embellished with bands

of guilloche molding with a central oval boss. The moldings appear to be
terra cotta, colored to match the prominent galvanized iron crowning
cornice which has been treated to look like oxidized copper.

On 19th Street the first five and a half bays of the ground story are con-
cealed by a wood shed. In the east half of the sixth bay, the seventh and

89



Broadway Between East 19th Street and East 20th Street (East Side)
continuation of . . . No. 890-892 Broadway

eighth bays, and the west half of the ninth bay, the original masonry is
visible, though the windows have been bricked-in with cinder block. Here
the piers are treated as abstacted orders resting on high stone bases and
capped by stone blocks. Each bay contains a pair of basement windows, a
large brick bulkhead and a pair of first-story windows with stone sills
and lintels. The ninth, tenth, eleventh and twelth bays are treated as
loading docks. The large piers are painted black, and thinner cast-iron
piers are used to divide the bays. These are placed off-center, articula-
ting the bays into alternating one-third and two-thirds sections. The
tenth bay still retains a sixteen-over-eight light. The first third of
bay eleven preserves its original paneled wood cellar bulkhead, paneled
spandrel beneath a single-light window, dentiled crossbar, and upper
twelve-light window. The second two-thirds of this bay and the first
third of the twelth bay share a contemporary cement stoop, are faced
with cinderblock, and have modern steel doors. The western portion of
the twelth bay remains largely intact, preserving its original paired
wood doors, dentiled cross bar, and sixteen light window. The articula-
tion of the upper stories on 19th Street is identical to that of the
Broadway facade.

HISTORY

This site was originally part of the Cornelius Tiebout Williams farm which
extended from around Third Avenue to Broadway between 1l4th and 20th
Streets. Following Williams’ death his property was divided among his
heirs. His daughter Julia C. Miner and her husband William Miner inherited
the lot at 19th and Broadway in 1835 and subsequently sold it to Peter
Goelet in 1844. Descendents of a Huguenot family which had settled in New
Amsterdam in the third quarter of the 17th century, Peter Goelet and his
brother Robert had inherited considerable property from their father, Peter
P. Goelet, a wealthy merchant who ran a hardware business on Hanover
Square. Both Peter and Robert greatly expanded their holdings, buying
among other properties most of the lots on both sides of Broadway between
19th and 20th Streets. According to his obituary in the New York Times
Peter Goelet made "it an invariable rule never to part with a foot of land
the title of which had been once vested in the Goelet family...On the other
hand he was at all times ready to purchase property," so that by the end of
his life he "owned lots in every part of the city." Sometime between 1845
and 1850, Goelet had a large house and stable erected on the Broadway site
which he occupied with his unmarried sister and his nephew Eldridge T.
Gerry. An eccentric, Goelet was known for his thriftiness: he wrote rent
receipts on one inch scraps of paper torn from old envelopes and kept a
forge in the basement for the manufacture of goods to be used around the
house. His great passion was for exotic fowl; peacocks, pheasants, and
storks roamed his extensive gardens in summer together with his pet guinea
pig and cow. According to the Times "the extraordinary spectacle" of these
animals "feeding quietly in the busiest and most bustling part of Broadway"
frequently drew crowds.
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Goelet lived at 19th and Broadway till his death in 1879, long after the
area had become commercialized and fashionable New York had moved uptown.
Following his death, his property was partitioned among the members of his
family. His widowed sister, Hannah G. Gerry and his unmarried sister,
listed in directories of the period as Miss Goelet, continued to live in
the house which remained standing until Hannah Gerry's estate was settled
in 1896. The property then passed to Almy Gerry Gallatin who in 1897 had
John B. Snook and Sons draw up plans for a eight-story store and loft
building on the southern portion of the site, extending forty-eight feet
along Broadway and 146 feet along 19th Street. Almost immediately follow-
ing 890 Broadway'’s completion in 1898, Gallatin had John B. Snook and Sons
file plans for a second store and loft building at 892 Broadway, the
remaining L-shaped portion of the site which had a frontage of forty-eight
feet on Broadway and of twenty-eight feet at 27 East 19th Street. This
building was to be in effect an extension of 890 Broadway, sharing a common
facade and a common Broadway entrance. According to Buildings Department
records these plans were approved but expired while Gallatin was abroad.
Nevertheless, work seems to have gone ahead since a note on the plans
indicates that an inspector found the building completed in May 1899. It
seems possible therefore, that the New Building Application filed for 892
Broadway in 1902-03 was intended to legalize an already existing condition.

The building’s earliest tenants were typical of the district and included
Mc Gibbon & Company, Linens and Upholstery, on the first two floors; and
dealers in millinery goods, lace curtains, oriental rugs, and a corsets

on the upper floors. In the 1920s through the 1940s most of the tenants
were clothing manufacturers. 1In 1976, the Feld Ballet became the first
performing arts organization to rent space in the building, taking the
eighth floor which was converted to a modern studio complex. Two years
later director/choreographer Michael Bennett purchased the building and
began alterations to create 890 Studios, two and a half floors of rehersal
studios, considered among the finest in the city. American Ballet Theater
signed a ten-year lease for the second and third floors in 1980. By 1986,
when Bennett became ill and suddenly placed 890 Broadway on the market, the
entire building was devoted to the arts. With the prospect of a sale to a
developer who intended to convert it to office space, Lawrence A. Wien, a
lawyer and real estate investor, placed a $1 million dollar deposit on the
building allowing ABT, Feld Ballet, and the Alvin Ailey American Dance
Theater time to raise sufficent capital to purchase the building, which was
named the Lawrence A. Wien Center for Dance and Theater in 1988.
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DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

*1897-98: NB 277-1897 [Source: New Building Application]

1898: NB 519-1898 [Source: New Building Application]

New Building application for 892 Broadway lapsed because owner abroad.
Inspector reports bldg. completed in May 1899 when he writes a violation.
Architect -- John B. Snook & Sons Owner -- Almy Gallatin

1902-03: NB 20-1902 [Source: New Building Application]

New plans filed for 892 Broadway in place of NB 519-1898, called for use of
present entrance at 890 Broadway, specified floors to be open lofts.
Architect -- John B. Snook & Sons Owner -- Almy G. Gallatin
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894-900 BROADWAY between East 19th Street and East 20th Street (East Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 848/61]

GOELET BUILDING

TYPE STYLE

Store Late 19th-C. Commercial
ARCHITECTS OWNER

McKim, Mead & White Robert & Ogden Goelet

Maynicke & Franke

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: 1886-87/1905-06

DESCRIPTION

The ten-story Goelet Building, one of the significant buildings from the
middle development phase of the district, is prominently sited on the
southwest corner of Broadway and 20th Street. Designed as a mercantile
building by McKim, Mead & White and built in 1886-87, it was converted to a
store and loft building in 1905 by Maynicke and Franke who removed McKim,
Mead & White'’s top story, adding the present five upper stories and the
last bay on 20th Street. Long regarded by critics and scholars as an im-
portant early work by McKim, Mead & White, the Goelet Building is one of
the few buildings in the district to represent the early stages of sky-
scraper design in the 1880s and despite its alterations is one of the most
significant.

Designed to take advantage of its corner site the Goelet Building's br
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stone, and terra cotta facades are treated as a single unit which wraps
around the corner extending ninety-six feet along Broadway and 125 feet
along East 20th Street. The facades are divided into three bays on Broad-
way, three bays at the corner, and four bays on East 20th Street. The bays
on the street fronts are three windows wide, the corner bays only one win-
dow wide. Before the building was altered the stories were grouped in a
tripartite 2-3-1 composition, now they are arranged in a 2-3-4-1 pattern.
Giant arches articulate the two-story base. At the corner these rest on
Ionic columns with alternating polished granite and terra-cotta drums.

On the street fronts they spring from granite pilasters. The arches have
alternating brick and stone voussoirs and are outlined by terra-cotta
archivolts and by patterned bricks of a slighty deeper shade of orange than
the tawny Roman brick that faces the walls. On Broadway and at the corner
the ground story bays have modern shopfronts; on 20th Street all the bays
but the last have been bricked up. Here a molded iron mullion divides the
bay into two sections; the eastern retaining its original iron cross bars
supporting a large overdoor light and transom, the western retaining only
its transom bar and lights. On 20th Street the iron spandrels that sepa-
rate the first and second story windows are visible. These are decorated
with small star-like studs and are edged wih bands of molding. In the
second story lunettes all the bays but the end bay on Broadway retain their
original mullions and cross bars. With the exception of the center bay on
Broadway all the large triple-light windows have had their center lights
divided into two sections, the upper containing a center light and a pair
of small casements. The second story is crowned by a patterned brick fret
molding and a boldly modeled stone dentil course.

The third through fifth story windows are grouped into vertical strips sur-
rounded by molded stone frames and continuous bands of patterned brickwork.
The spandrels between the windows are filled with patterned brickwork with
central bosses in an interweave design perhaps inspired by Oriental calli-
graphy. The last bay on 20th Street continues the articulation of the
other bays but is faced in a lighter tan brick and trimmed with deeper
toned terra-cotta panels in place of McKim, Mead & White'’s patterned
brickwork. The profile of the stone window surrounds is also slightly
flattened.

On the sixth through ninth stories Maynicke also simply repeated the arti-
culation of the three lower stories employing the same brick and terra-
cotta panels he had employed for the last bay on the third through fifth
stories. Here, however, he substituted terra-cotta frames for the stone
window frames used below. There are also some subtle differences in
detailing from the original design: the dark terra-cotta banding surround-
ing the window frames is continued as a frieze over the fifth-story string
course and the conventional cornice that terminates the ninth story rests
directly on the terra cotta window frames. The tenth story attic is also
articulated with banded window frames. A terra-cotta bed molding survives
from an elaborate roof cornice but the cornice itself (pictured in Both
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Sides of Broadway) was removed by 1931 when Lewis Mumford illustrated the
building in The Brown Decades.

The Goelet building has been recently cleaned removing layers of grime
and paint from its masonry. It retains most of its original one-over-one
wood sash now painted dark green to match the storefronts.

HISTORY

The Goelet Building was constructed for Robert and Ogden Goelet, members

of a wealthy family, which in the 1840s had begun to acquire land on both
sides of Broadway between 19th and 20th Streets. The Goelet Building site
was acquired by Peter Goelet in 1844 and was first developed as a marble
works in the early fifties. By the late 1870s there were four brick build-
ings on the site, all fronting on Broadway and presumably all used for com-
mercial purposes. In 1879 Robert and Ogden Goelet inherited the bulk of
their family'’s real estate holdings and began upgrading their properties.
In 1886 McKim, Mead & White, who had designed Robert Goelet’'s Newport
house Southside in 1882-84 and had planned a now demolished rental office
for the Goelet Estate at 9 West 17th Street, were given the commission for
this six-story store building, the first of several speculative business
buildings the firm was to erect for the Goelets.

From the first, critics regarded the Goelet Building as one of the finest
of McKim, Mead & White'’s early commercial works. Russell Sturgis writing
in the Architectural Record in 1895 praised it as a truly modern business
building, designed without reference to a particular historic style that
provided a "masterly solution" to the problem of articulating "a big build-
ing with so many stories all alike" in its use of stone frames to unite
windows vertically. In recent years both Leland Roth and Sarah Landau
have also noted the forward-looking nature of the Goelet Building's design
agreeing with Sturgis on the innovative nature of its vertical window
groupings and its early use of a tripartite scheme to group stories "two
years before Sullivan, with the arcaded Walker Warehouse in Chicago,
arrived at a comparably successful tripartite formula." (Landau, p.1l59)
While both Landau and Roth both generally agree with Sturgis about the
ahistorical nature of the design, Landau has suggested the possible influ-
ence of a much earlier Italianate design by Hurry & Rogers for the Bank

of the Republic (1851-52) which employed a similar compositional scheme
for a building on a corner site. Roth in his book on McKim, Mead &

White has suggested that the clarity and balance and careful proportions
of the Goelet design reflect the increasing influence of Italian Renais-
sance design on the firm in the years following their Villard House commis-
sion. He places the Goelet Building among a group of works that incorpor-
ated a few overtly Renaissance details but that are more properly called
"classic" because of the clarity and balance of their design. Numbered
among this group were several other Renaissance-inspired designs that
employed paneled walls -- American Safe Deposit Company and Columbia Bank
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Building (1882-84), Phillips and Lloyd Phoenix house (1882-84), and the
Gibson Fahnestock house (1886-89)--all of which have been demolished.

Designed as a store building, the Goelet Building was occupied by tenants
typical of the district including Frank Dammrich Ladies Clothing, Kull and
Company Artistic Garments for Ladies and Gentlemen, and Fritz and La Rue,
Oriental Rugs and Carpets. In 1905, Robert Walton Goelet who was then
acting as trustee for the estate of Ogden Goelet leased the Goelet Building
for a twenty-year period to Henry Corn, a real estate developer who was
extremely active throughout the district during the period around the

turn of the century when it was becoming a center for the wholesale trade.
A few months after the lease took effect, Robert Maynicke, who worked
extensively for Corn, filed plans for a major addition to the Goelet Build-
ing which was renamed the Shoninger Building for Shoniger Brothers Laces,

a prime tenant during the early decades of the 20th century. Other tenants
were characteristic of the district and included dealers in upholstery
fabrics, rugs, lace, and cloaks and suits. By the late twenties most of
the building’s tenants were connected with the garment industry.

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

*1886-87: NB 299-1886 [Source: New Building Application]

*1905-06: Alt 1111-1905 [Source: Alteration Application]

Top story removed and five additional stories constructed; building extend-
ed one bay on 20th Street.

Architect -- Maynicke & Franke Owner -- Ogden Goelet (Estate of)

1924-25: Alt 2870-1924 [Source: Alteration Application]
Corner show window extended on Broadway and 20th Streets.
Architect -- Not Listed Owner -- Not Listed

1956: Alt 1409-1956 [Source: Alteration Application]
Storefront alterations.
Architect -- William F. Jenter Owner -- 900 Broadway Inc.
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BROADWAY
Between East 19th Street and East 20th Street
WEST SIDE

889-891 BROADWAY between East 19th Street and East 20th Street (West Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 848/12]

GORHAM BUILDING

TYPE STYLE

Store and Apartment Queen Anne

ARCHITECT ORIGINAL OWNER

Edward Hale Kendall Robert & Ogden Goelet
BUILDER TENANT/LESSEE

Steele & Costigan Gorham Manufacturing Co.

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: 1883-84

SUMMARY

The eight-story Gorham building, a rare example of the Queen Anne style in
New York City, is located on a trapezoidal site at the northwest corner of
Broadway and 19th Street, extending fifty-five feet along Broadway and 109
feet along East 19th Street. Designed by noted architect Edward Hale
Kendall, it was an early example of a mixed-use building in New York com-
bining first-class bachelor apartments with two stories of retail space for
the Gorham Manufacturing Company, one of the nation’s leading manufacturers
of fine silver at the end of the 19th century. Later taken over entirely
by the Gorham Company, the building was an important link in the chain of
first-class stores and department stores that characterized Broadway during
the middle development phase of the district, and is one of the outstanding
buildings of the district.

HISTORY

The Gorham Building was constructed for Robert and Ogden Goelet, members

of a wealthy family which had begun in the 1840’s, to acquire land on both
sides of Broadway between 19th and 20th Streets. Purchased by Almy Goelet
in 1845, the Gorham Building site was initially occupied by two small
commercial buildings which housed a hardware store and a dealer in marble
during the 1850s. (For a photo of these buildings see Boyer, p. 100.) In
1879 Robert and Ogden Goelet inherited the bulk of their family’'s real
estate holdings and began upgrading their properties. Electing to erect a
new building on this site, they turned to the prominent architect Edward
Hale Kendall who had recently designed their Fifth Avenue mansions.
Kendall, who worked in a variety of styles, may have thought that the Queen
Anne style which derives much of its picturesque detailing from 16th- and
17th-century English domestic architecture would be particularly
appropriate for this building because it was to contain apartments above
its commercial stories. Such mixed-use buildings were often constructed on
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avenues and commercial streets. This section of Broadway was taken over
for commerce so quickly, however, that no residential uses survived for
long. Of four buildings begun on this section of Broadway in the first
half of 1883, only the Gorham included residential floors.

In 1888 the Gorham Manufacturing Company expanded into the third and fourth
floors of the building. Partitions on those floors were removed; the third
floor was turned into an engraving room for silver-plated ware, and the
fourth into a salesroom. In 1893 all remaining residential use was
terminated.

When the Gorham Manufacturing Company of Providence, Rhode Island, opened
their New York store in May 1884, the New York Times characterized the
company "as the most extensive silverware house in the country." A pioneer
in the introduction of silver-hollow ware and electroplating, it was also
an artistic innovator producing important and influential Aesthetic
Movement, Neo-Renaissance, and Art-Nouveau designs. Its retail store
offered an endless variety of objects, "silver fashioned for every
conceivable use," according to King'’s Handbook, including ecclesiastical
metalwork.

In 1905 the Gorham Manufacturing Company moved uptown to Fifth Avenue and
36th Street, opposite the new Tiffany store. In 1912, the Gorham Building
was converted to lofts and offices for Robert Reis & Company, manufacturers
of B.V.D. brand underwear. In 1922 the building was further altered to
permit manufacturing above the second story. The building was extensively
altered again in 1977, when it returned to commercial and residential use.
The Gorham Building was designated a New York City Landmark in 1984.

ARCHITECTURE

BROADWAY FACADE

The eight-story Gorham building is constructed of pink brick with terra-
cotta and light gray Belleville sandstone trim. A high pitched slate roof
enriched with copper elements and iron cresting adds to its picturesque
effect. The Broadway and East 19th Street facades share a common decorative
scheme and were originally linked by a rounded corner tower.

On Broadway the fifty-five foot wide facade is divided into three bays. The
two lower stories act as base and were originally articulated by two-story
piers decorated with foliate reliefs. 1In 1912 the present five-bay lime-
stone storefront was installed, changing the rhythm of the ground-story
articulation. Much altered, the storefront still retains its entrance bays
and dentiled cornice. 1In the center bay on the second story where
originally there was a pediment over the Gorham store entrance, are three
one-over-one double hung windows in a rectangular frame. The end bays
retain their original wood arched enframements within rectangular frames
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though the triple one-over-one aluminum-framed windows are modern.
Original iron panels beneath the window sills are decorated with paterae.
A stone cornice with keyed projections over the arches separates the
commercial base from the upper stories.

Above the second story the three Broadway bays are practically identical,
although the middle bay is slightly narrower than the others. Within the
bays the metal spandrels and mullions and paired one-over-one double-hung
windows are modern. Much of the masonry remains intact, retaining such
features as stone banding on the piers and brick panels beneath the third-
story windows. The ornament becomes more elaborate as it approaches the top
of the building. Decorated segmental arches used above the fifth-story
windows in the outer bays are flanked by iron tie rods in the form of sun-
flowers, a hallmark of the Queen Anne style. The sixth-story windows in
the same bays are flanked by volutes outlined with stone, and the center
bay on the seventh story is crowned by a broken segmental pediment.
Pedimented dormers were installed on the pitched slate roof in 1912,
replacing the pediments and gablet that had once punctuated the roofline.
Still remaining are the small windows with copper hoods, copper flashing,
and unusual iron cresting. A large penthouse was erected on the northern
portion of the roof in 1977.

At the corner a projecting shop window dates from 1912. Above is a stone
panel that was once carved to match the panels on the adjoining piers.

The second story retains its original arched window surround embellished by
a stone keystone and a molded brick panel beneath a stone sill. Until 1912
a tower with cupola rose from the third to the eighth story. It was
replaced by a chamfered corner with rectangular window openings for one-
over-one windows; the corner terminates in a pedimented dormer

EAST 19TH STREET FACADE

The 109-foot wide East 19th Street facade is divided into seven bays. The
original articulation of the two-story commercial base on Broadway is
repeated, but here the masonry remains intact and many elements from the
original cast-iron window frames survive including the pilastered vertical
members and swagged spandrel panels. (The galvanized-iron crossing bars
supporting the ground story transoms date from 1912; the projecting show
window was installed in 1894.) Above the second story the windows are
arranged in two patterns. The first, fourth, and seventh bays are identi-
cal to the end bays on Broadway and are topped by dormers. The second and
third, and the fifth and sixth bays are grouped in pairs and surmounted by
stepped gables. 1In these bays the window openings have not been enlarged
so that the original brick and stone bands defining the floors remain
intact. Among the noteworthy features of this facade are the terra-cotta
relief panels decorated with escutcheons, cornucopia, and floral motifs
used above the fifth-story windows and on the stepped gables. A 1912
elevator penthouse on the west end of the roof is shingled and flashed to
harmonize with the older portions of the roof. A modern metal and glass

100



Broadway Between East 19th Street and East 20th Street (West Side)
continuation of . . . No. 889-891 Broadway

structure is attached to this penthouse.

NORTHERN ELEVATION

The Gorham Building’s ninety-two foot wide northern elevation is partially
visible from Broadway. The older portions of this wall are faced with red
brick; there is one window at the center of the seventh story. The rear
portion of this wall which rises to nine stories over an elevator penthouse
is faced with yellow brick. It has one window at the eighth story.

REAR WALL

The fifty-three foot wide rear wall is faced with two tones of red brick
marking the area where the building’'s original pitched roof was brought
forward in 1912 to support an elevator penthouse. The wall is pierced by
three small modern windows near the roof. An old water tank and a small
chimney are located on the northern portion of the roof.

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

*1883-84: NB 365-1883 [Source: New Building Application]

1888: Alt 925-1888 [Source: Alteration Application]

Interior altered to convert the third and fourth stories to salesrooms and
studios for the Gorham Manufacturing Company.

Owner -- Robert & Ogden Goelet Builder -- George H. Houghton

Tenant -- Gorham Manufacturing Co.

*1893: Alt 586-1893 [Source: Alteration Application]

Entire building taken over by the Gorham Company; interior alterations,
freight elevator built in rear yard.

Architect -- Edward Hale Kendall Owner -- Robert & Ogden Goelet
Tenant -- Gorham Manufacturing Co.

1894: Alt 578-1894 [Source: Alteration Application]
Projecting show windows installed on Broadway and 19th Street.
Owner -- Robert & Ogden Goelet Builder -- B & WB Smith

*1912-13: Alt 2625-1912 [Source: Alteration Application]

Converted to lofts and offices; corner tower removed, new storefront on
Broadway, windows enlarged, new dormers, extension raised to 9-stories.
Architect -- John H. Duncan Owner -- Ogden Goelet (Estate of)
Tenant -- Robert Reis & Co. :

1922: Alt 589-1922 [Source: Alteration Application]

Interior alterations, upper floors converted to manufacturing, new entrance
hall and vestibule partitioned-off from store, new entrance on Broadway.
Architect -- John H. Duncan Owner -- Ogden Goelet (Estate of)

Tenant -- Robert Reis & Co.
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1977-78: Alt 848-1977 [Source: Alteration Application]

Upper stories converted to co-operative apartments, new windows and
spandrels, penthouse erected on roof.

Architect -- Joseph Pell Lombardi Owner -- 889 Realty Inc.
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893 BROADWAY between East 19th Street and East 20th Street (West Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 848/14]

TYPE STYLE
Converted Shop & Dwelling neo-Grec/Modern
ARCHITECT ORIGINAL OWNER
Unknown/Mok & Sonber John M. Dodd

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: 1844/1873/1975
DESCRIPTION

This four-story L-shaped commercial building has frontages on Broadway and
19th street which reflect the changing nature of the development of the
district. The twenty-eight-foot wide Broadway facade dates from a remodel-
ing of 1975 and consists of a glass and metal storefront surmounted by an
anodized aluminum screen displaying signage for the Dumont Camera Corpora-
tion. At 13 East 19th Street the building has a twenty-four-foot wide
cast-iron front of the 1870s which remains largely intact save for ground
story alterations and the addition of a fire escape. This restrained
neo-Grec design employs paneled pilasters to frame the facade, smaller
unfluted pilasters surmounted by impost blocks to separate the bays, and
simple entablatures decorated with bosses and string courses to set off the
individual stories. On the ground story the bays are divided by fluted
columns rather than pilasters and the western bay is slightly wider than
the others suggesting that it was designed as a freight or carriage
entrance. Both the eastern and western bays have been sealed with cinder
blocks and modern metal doors have been installed in the center and western
bays. A metal security gate extends across the western and center bays.

On the upper floors the six-over-six kalamein sash windows date from an
alteration of 1915.

HISTORY

Home to the fashionable dry goods firm Edward A. Morrison & Son from
1875-1907, this building is typical of the older commercial buildings in
the district which were upgraded when Ladies Mile became a fashionable
shopping district in the 1870s. Purchased in 1843 by builder John M. Dodd,
this site was first developed with a three-and-a-half-story, fifty-feet-
deep, gabled building which fronted on Broadway. (An 1850s photograph
reproduced in 0ld New York in Early Photographs shows the gable.) From
1844-51 this building was leased to the sculptor Ottaviano Gori who lived
and worked there, producing statuary, monuments, fountains, and architec-
tural ornaments including the carvings for one of the most influential
buildings of the period, the A.T. Stewart Store of 1845-46. (Located at
Broadway and Chambers Streets, the former Stewart Store, now the Sun
Building is a designated New York City Landmark.) Around 1857 a two-story
shop was erected on the 19th Street portion of the lot. Over the next
twenty years two additional stories were added to the 19th Street build-
ing while the attic story of the Broadway building was taken down and the
building was extended twenty-three feet at the rear. Although it is not
known what businesses occupied the buildings during this period, it seems
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likely that they were of a nature similar to the saloon and kitchen listed
at 893 Broadway in the alteration docket of 1870 (Alt. 987-1870). 1In 1873,
however, Dodd must have decided to respond to the changing nature of
Broadway by adapting his property for a retail tenant. In 1873-74 the two
buildings were joined and given matching cast-iron fronts in the then
fashionable neo-Grec style. In 1875 the newly renovated building was
leased to Edward A. Morrison & Son, an established drygoods concern

which dealt in imported millenery, laces, dress-goods, and trimmings. When
Morrison’s moved uptown in 1907/08, Lord & Taylor took over 893 Broadway,
altering the ground floor storefront on Broadway to match its adjoining
building at 895-901 Broadway. In 1915, following Lord & Taylor's move
uptown, the building was converted to manufacturing. At that time a fourth
story was added to the Broadway wing of the building. The building contin-
ued to be used for manufacturing until 1975 when it was taken over by the
Dumont Camera Company.

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

1873-74: Alt 231-1873 [Source: Alteration Docket]

Rear extension at 893 Broadway, joined to 13 East 19th, new cast-iron
fronts on Broadway and 19th Street.

Architect -- Not listed Owner -- John M. Dodd

Builder -- Alexander M. Ross

1908: Alt 1947-1908 [Source: Alteration Application]

New cast-iron ground-story storefront on Broadway.

Architect -- James J.F. Gavigan Owner -- Estate of John M. Dodd
Tenant -- Lord & Taylor

1915: Alt 1654-1915 [Source: Alteration Application]

Conversion to manufacturing, fourth story constructed on Broadway wing,
new freight entrance and kalameined windows on 19th Street.

Architect -- Renwick, Aspinwall & Tucker

Owner -- Estate of John M. Dodd

1975-78: Alt 708-1975 [Source: Alteration Application]
New facade on Broadway, interior alterations.
Architect -- Mok & Sonber Owner -- Dumont Camera Corporation
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895-899 BROADWAY between East 19th Street and East 20th Street (West Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 848/15]

TYPE STYLE

Dept. Store/ Commercial Second Empire/neo-Ren.
ARCHITECTS OWNER

James H. Giles Peter Goelet

John H. Duncan
DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: 1869/1914
SUMMARY

This five-story L-shaped commercial building, extending eighty-three feet
along Broadway and twenty-five feet along East 20th Street, was originally
part of the Lord & Taylor Department Store, a Second Empire commercial
palace, designed by James H. Giles in 1869-70, located at the southwest
corner of Broadway and East 20th Street. One of the most prestigious retail
firms in the city, Lord & Taylor was one of the major links in the chain of
specialty and department stores that made Broadway known as " The Ladies’
Mile." 1In 1914, following Lord & Taylor’s move uptown, 895-899 Broadway
and the corner portion of the store building at 901 Broadway were separat-
ed. Altered for use as a store and loft building by architect John H.
Duncan, 895-99 Broadway received a neo-Renaissance limestone front on
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Broadway that is characteristic of the later development phase of the dis-
trict. The 20th Street facade was left substantially intact. It is the
only portion of the old Lord & Taylor store to retain its ground story
ironwork.

HISTORY

First developed in the 1840s, this site was originally occupied by a liquor
store and the marble yard of Ottaviano Gori, a prominent sculptor who lived
at 893 Broadway. In 1850-51, Gori moved to 895-897 Broadway having had a
large Italianate structure erected to house his residence and workshop.
(For a photograph of that building see, Black, p.127.) 1In 1858 Gori sold
his building to Robert and Peter Goelet, members of a wealthy, land-owning
family which eventually acquired most of the land on both sides of Broadway
between 19th and 20th Streets. In 1869 shortly after construction began

on the Arnold Constable store at Broadway and 19th Street, the directors of
Lord & Taylor entered into an agreement with the Goelets and with the
Badeau family which owned the corner lot at 20th and Broadway to lease
sufficent property for a mammoth new store. The Goelets and the firm of
Lord & Taylor jointly commissioned James H. Giles, a Brooklyn architect
skilled in the design of cast-iron buildings, to plan the new building.

The design of the Lord & Taylor store was an immediate success and dis-
played many of the most up-to-date architectural features. The boldness
of the cast-iron facade and the many large windows, together with the
prominent mansard roof and striking corner tower, created a particularly
imposing effect. On Broadway, a large arched entrance gave great distinc-
tion to the building.

Despite the tremendous size of the cast-iron store, the firm nonetheless
soon outgrew its new building. In 1890 they acquired the adjacent building
at 6-8 East 20th an over the years eventually occupied most of the build-
ings on the block bounded by Broadway, Fifth Avenue, 19th and 20th Streets.

In 1914, responding to a northward migration of the commercial district,
Lord & Taylor moved uptown to its present building at Fifth Avenue and 38th
Street. No. 895-899 Broadway and 10 East 20th Street, owned by the Goelets
were sealed off from 901 Broadway and treated as a separate building. The
prominent architect John H. Duncan, then on retainer to the Goelet Estate,
was commissioned to alter the building for use as stores and lofts, joining
it to a new ten-story annex at 9-11 East 19th Street (see). Duncan design-
ed a new limestone facade for the Broadway entrance to the new complex; the
lower portions of the 20th Street front were left standing but a dormer was
removed and the roofline was brought forward.

From 1914 to 1928 both 895-899 Broadway and 9-11 East 19th Street were

leased to the Calhoun Robbins Novelties Company; in 1930 they were both
converted for light manufacturing purposes. Saint Laurie LTD, clothing
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manufacturers, took over the building in 1983 and renovated the Broadway
facade.

ARCHITECTURE

BROADWAY FACADE

This limestone facade, extending eighty-three feet along Broadway, is ar-
ticulated by rusticated piers which divide it into three bays, each three
windows wide. Projected courses above the first and fourth stories create
a tripartite story grouping which is enhanced by the use of round-arched
windows with console keystones on the fifth story. Notable features of
this restrained design include the triglyph capitals used on the small
piers separating the windows and the handsome lionhead rondels punctating
the frieze beneath a projecting galvanized iron cornice. Acquired by Saint
Laurie LTD in the early 1980s, the building now displays colorful banners
advertising the company’s products. Recent alterations undertaken by the
new owners removed unsightly signage and roll-down gates from the ground
story, revealing largely intact storefronts that are now painted black and
gold. Entrance bays at the corners of the facade were reconfigured, the
alterations masked by marble revetments that were matched on the faces of
the piers flanking the center bay. The building still retains its one-
over-one wood sash windows on the upper stories.

EAST 20TH STREET FACADE

The twenty-five foot wide section of the building on East 20th Street still
retains its original cast iron front. Designed as a pavilion to terminate
the 20th Street facade it originally was surmounted by a mansard roof which
broke forward slightly to create a corner tower. The facade is framed by
rusticated Corinthian pilasters which vary slightly at each story.
Annulated columns separate the bays and support arches which carry lintels
decorated with projecting courses. Recessed behind this framework a
secondary order surmounted by stilted arches frames the windows. The
facade is further enriched by bracketed cornices above the ground and
fourth stories and by a small balcony beneath the center window on the
third story. 1In 1914 a masonry addition brought the roofline forward.

This has square-headed windows surmounted by a paneled frieze. Both the
ground story entrances and windows of this facade have been extensively
altered.
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WESTERN ELEVATION

Visible from East 20th Street the building’'s 105-foot wide western eleva-
tion is faced with brick. Four half-projecting columns are reminders of
the period when the building was connected to the now demolished store at
6-8 East 20th Street. The connections to 9-11 East 19th Street are also
apparent. This elevation has no applied decoration.

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

*1869-70: NB 1256-1869 [Source: New Building Docket]

*1914: Alt 316-1914 [Source: Alteration Application]

Walls constructed sealing-off building from 901 Broadway, new limestone
front on Broadway, interior alterations for conversion to store and lofts.
Architect -- John H. Duncan

Owner -- Robert W. Goelet (Trustee Estate of Ogden)

1928-30: Alt 1788-1928 [Source: Alteration Application]
Alterations for light manufacturing.
Architect -- John H. Duncan Owner -- (Estate of) Ogden Goelet
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901 BROADWAY between East 19th Street and East 20th Street (West Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 848/68]

LORD & TAYLOR BUILDING (FORMER)

TYPE STYLE

Department Store Second Empire

ARCHITECT ORIGINAL OWNER

James H. Giles Badeau family and Lord & Taylor
BUILDER

Marc Eidlitz
DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: 1869-70

SUMMARY

This four-and-one-half story commercial building, extending twenty-seven-
and-one-half feet along Broadway and 103 feet along East 20th Street, was
originally part of the Lord & Taylor Department Store. A Second Empire
style commercial palace designed by James H. Giles and erected in 1869-70,
the cast-iron-fronted building is located at the southwest corner of Broad-
way and East 20th Street. One of the most prestigious retail firms in the
city, Lord & Taylor was one of the major links in the chain of specialty
and department stores that made Broadway known as "The Ladies’ Mile." In
1914, following Lord & Taylor’s move uptown, 901 Broadway was separated
from the adjacent L-shaped portion of the store building located at 895-99
Broadway (see). Above a recent storefront, 901 Broadway, which is an in-
dividually designated New York City Landmark, remains intact.

HISTORY

Established about 1830 by Samuel Lord and George W. Taylor, the firm of
Lord & Taylor grew from a small drygoods store to an extremely successful
business of wholesale and department stores. In 1869 the directors of Lord
& Taylor entered into an agreement with Robert and Peter Goelet, who owned
lots on Broadway, and with the Badeau family, which owned this adjacent
corner lot at East 20th Street, to lease sufficient property for a mammoth
new store. The Goelets and the firm of Lord & Taylor jointly commissioned
James H. Giles, a Brooklyn architect skilled in the design of cast-iron
buildings, to plan the new building. (For a photographic view of the build-
ing, taken in 1910, see Village Views, 11 (Summer, 1985), 19.)

The design of the Lord & Taylor store was an immediate success and dis-
played many of the most up-to-date architectural features. The boldness of
the cast-iron facade and the many large windows, together with the prom-
inent mansard roof and striking corner tower, created a particularly impo-
sing effect. On Broadway, a large arched entrance gave great distinction to
the building.

Despite the tremendous size of the cast-iron store, the firm nonetheless
outgrew its new building. Shortly after 1870, an addition was erected at 10
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East 20th Street. The firm continued to expand over the years, eventually
occupying most of the buildings on the block bounded by Broadway, Fifth
Avenue, and East 19th and 20th streets.

In 1914, responding to a northward migration of the commercial district,
Lord & Taylor moved uptown to its present building at Fifth Avenue and
West 38th Street. In that year, Edward H. Mount hired Otto Reissman (who
was superseded by August H. Hillers) to install new wrought-iron store-
fronts at the first story, new fire escapes, and an elevator penthouse. By
1919 the building was used for offices and light manufacturing. The store-
fronts have since been replaced, most recently in the late 1980s.

ARCHITECTURE

BROADWAY FACADE

The former Lord & Taylor building, four stories with an attic, is dominated
by its diagonal corner tower with mansard roof. The tower is flanked by a
single bay facing Broadway and by the long East 20th Street facade. Above
the first-story storefront of metal and glass, installed in the late 1980s,
the facade is intact.

The corner tower is set above the first story on an oblique angle and rises
a full story above the mansard roof. Pilasters with modified Corinthian
capitals flank each story of the tower. At the tower, the triple window
bays of the three central stories are composed of a wide central window
flanked by narrow side windows opening onto variously shaped balconies with
low railings of delicate ironwork. The window enframements have stilted
flat arches with curved ends supported on slender engaged Corinthian col-
umns. At the upper stories of the tower, the windows are set in a flush
wall. At the fourth story, the lintels above the windows consist of flat
arches with corbel-form ends, while the inner flat arches of the enframe-
ments have deep curvilinear stilts.

A cornice with closely spaced brackets extends around the entire facade
above the fourth story and is surmounted, at the tower, by a full attic
story with five tall, narrow windows. At either side of these windows,
diminutive engaged columns support stilted elliptical arches, ornamented
with delicate curvilinear forms at the spandrels. The deeply recessed tym-
panums of these arches also display delicate decorative motifs. Above a
cornice with closely spaced diminutive brackets, a tall mansard roof of
slate in a fish-scale pattern terminates the tower and is crowned by an
elaborate iron cresting. Originally a large round-arched dormer window was
set above the cornice behind a railing which once extended around the top
of the tower.
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EAST 20TH STREET FACADE

The East 20th Street facade is composed of a long center section with win-
dow bays at either end flanked by pilasters. The design of the windows is
similar to that of the tower at the third story. Curvilinear ornament at
the spandrels of the lintels is further enhanced by the low railings with
small narrow arches beheath these windows. A curved balcony, from which
the railing has been removed, serves the central windows of the third
story. The bracketed roof cornice above the fourth story of the store pro-
jects slightly above the central section of the facade. The ends of the
mansard roof above ;this central section are set off by paneled uprights
topped by finials. This roof has three flat-arched dormer windows with
arched pediments andj is crowned by an ornate iron cresting.

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

*1869-70: NB 1256-1869 [Source: New Building Application]

1914-15: Alt 2196-1914 [Source: Alteration Application]

Wrought-iron storefronts, new fire escapes, and elevator penthouse in-
stalled.

Architects -- Otto Reissman & August H. Hillers

Owner -- Edward H. Mount

1919: Alt 1716-1919 [Source: Alteration Application]
Office mezzanine constructed on first story; upper stories used for light

manufacturing.

Architect -- H.S. Sylvester Owner -- Edward H. Mount
Tenant -- Daun, Rodgers, Spritger
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BROADWAY
Between East 20th Street and East 21lst Street
EAST SIDE

902-910 BROADWAY between East 20th Street and East 21lst Street (East Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 849/16]

TYPE STYLE

Store and loft Early 20c comm/eclectic
ARCHITECT ORIGINAL OWNER

Robert T. Lyons Charter Construction Co.
BUILDER

Charter Construction Co.
DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: 1912-13
SUMMARY

This twenty-story, T-shaped building, located on the northeast corner of
Broadway and East 20th Street, extends through the block to East 21lst
Street. The limestone-and-brick exterior is articulated in the eclectic
commercial style commonly used for tall structures designed in America
during the early twentieth century. Simplified Tudor Revival details are
applied to the entrances and spandrels. The building’s corner site and con-
siderable mass as well as its fine composition and detailing make this
building a dominant feature of the neighborhood. On the office stories,
some windows have been replaced by one-over-one double-hung metal sash
windows.

HISTORY

Architect Robert T. Lyons, who favored the neo-Renaissance style and
specialized in apartment buildings and hotels (including three apartment
houses in the Carnegie Hill Historic District), designed this structure
for the Charter Construction Company. Erected in 1912-1913, it replaced
several buildings of between three and seven stories, including the re-
nowned Continental Hotel. Tenants included prominent upholsterer M.H.
Rogers, embroiderers, a lace wholesaler, and a purveyor of art novelties--
businesses which were typical of the district. The storefronts have been
replaced.
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Broadway Between East 20th Street and East 21st Street (East Side)
continuation of . . . No. 902-910 Broadway

ARCHITECTURE

BROADWAY FACADE

This facade, ninety-six feet wide, is divided into base, shaft, and top.
The three-story limestone base is pierced by five double-height segmental-
arched openings divided by carved Tudoresque entrance portals in the end
bays and by simple spandrels in the center bays. The southern (store)
entrance retains a metal grille of Tudor roses and tracery; its doors are
recent additions. The northern (loft) entrance retains the Tudor details;
its doors (including one revolving door) are of recent date. Aluminum and
glass storefronts have boxlike canopies. At the second story, each wood-
framed tripartite window has a fixed central pane flanked by double-hung or
pivoting windows; all three sections are surmounted by transoms. At the
third story, the fixed-pane central window is flanked by double-hung sash
windows capped by transoms.

The twelve-story brick shaft is also divided into five bays: two end bays
with paired windows and three central bays with trebled windows. In the
central bays stories are divided by decorative spandrels of terra-cotta
Tudor roses, except for the fourth story, which is a transitional level
between base and shaft and is separated from both by simple string courses.

The five-story top, with its brick pilasters, maintains the window rhythm
of the shaft, but its central three stories have metal spandrels and pilas-
ter strips. The parapet is decorated with terra-cotta urns and swags.

EAST 20TH STREET FACADE

This facade, 113 feet wide, is identical to the Broadway facade, except
that at the street level, all five bays resemble the central (storefront)
bays on Broadway, and that above the base, the end bays are composed of
three windows.

EAST 21ST STREET FACADE

This facade adjusts details from the other facades to its narrower, fifty-
foot wide, five-bay width. The segmentally-arched side bays accommodate one
recent metal-and-glass storefront and one recently stuccoed surface with
metal service doors; the arched narrow central bay has one opening with a
metal roll-down security gate. For the shaft and top, each bay is articula-
ted by a single window opening.
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Broadway Between East 20th Street and East 2lst Street (East Side)
continuation of . . . No. 902-910 Broadway

EASTERN ELEVATION
The eastern elevation of the East 21st Street ell is a brick wall trimmed
in limestone with double-hung windows at each story.

EASTERN ELEVATION
The eastern elevation of the East 20th Street ell is a red brick wall
trimmed in beige brick with double-hung windows at each story.

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

1912: Demo 36-1912 [Source: Demolition Application]
Six brick buildings, which comprised the Continental Hotel, were
demolished.

*1912-13: NB 50-1912 [Source: New Building Application]

1948: Alt 2990-1948 [Source: Alteration Application]
Iron storefront removed and replaced with an aluminum one with a brick
base.
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912-920 BROADWAY between East 20th Street and East 21lst Street (East Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 849/63]

TYPE STYLE

Store and Loft neo-Renaissance
ARCHITECT ORIGINAL OWNER

Schwartz & Gross Ritz Realty Corporation
BUILDER

Macweil Construction Corp
DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: 1916-17
SUMMARY

This sixteen-story neo-Renaissance store and loft building, characteris-
tic of the later development phase of the district, is situated on the
southeast corner of Broadway and East 21lst Street, extending ninety-six
feet on Broadway and seventy-three-and-a-half feet on East 21lst Street.
Designed by Schwartz & Gross and built in 1916-17, it is faced in stone and
brick. The building’s height and its three-story stone colonnade give it a
prominent position in the Broadway streetscape. The storefronts are in
various states of alteration, but above the first story the original win-
dows remain intact.

HISTORY

Architects Schwartz & Gross designed this building for the Ritz Realty Cor-
poration; it was erected by the Macweil Construction Company. The site
previously accommodated several four- and five-story masonry structures,
including the home of Purssells, a famous confectionery and restaurant
which was located here for many years. Tenants of the new structure, who
were typical of the district, were companies which specialized in laces and
embroideries and in decorative upholstery.

ARCHITECTURE

BROADWAY FACADE

The five-bay, three-story, stone base is framed within a colonnade which
has had its capitals removed. The southernmost bay contains the entrance
with a bracketed semi-circular pediment bearing putti, a shield, acro-
teria, and other carved ornament, and recent metal-and-glass doors. The
first-story metal shopfronts are in various states of alteration, the two
northernmost being the least intact. The two southernmost bays exhibit
original bulkhead grilles, paired show windows and transoms of leaded
glass. On the second story, each bay has a fixed wood-framed window pane,
flanked by colonnettes and one-over-one double-hung wood windows, and tran-
soms above all three windows. The third-story wood-framed windows repeat
this arrangement except for the transoms.

Above the cornice rises a thirteen-story brick shaft, divided into five
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Broadway Between East 20th Street and East 21lst Street (East Side)
continuation of . . . No. 912-920 Broadway

bays of paired windows. The transitional fourth story is defined by
terra-cotta bands of waves and acanthus leaves and by raised brick panels.
Above the thirteenth story is another terra-cotta string course, which sup-
ports the six Composite pilasters demarcating the bays. The parapet is
decorated with terra-cotta bands.

EAST 21ST STREET FACADE

This four-bay facade is almost identical to the five-bay Broadway facade,
except that the entrance, with only a simple surround, is on the left side
and is capped by paired windows without the fixed central pane. On this
side the pilasters of the base retain their Composite capitals.

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

*1916-17: NB 141-1916 [Source: New Building Docket]
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BROADWAY
Between East 20th Street and East 2lst Street
WEST SIDE

903-907 BROADWAY between East 20th Street and East 21st Street (West Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 849/10 in part]

WARREN BUILDING

TYPE STYLE

Stores, Lofts and Offices neo-Renaissance
ARCHITECT ORIGINAL OWNER
McKim, Mead & White George Henry Warren
BUILDER

Michael Reid
DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: 1890-91

SUMMARY

This seven-story neo-Renaissance store, loft and office structure, charac-
teristic of the middle development phase of the district, is conspicuously
located on the northwest corner of Broadway and East 20th Street, extend-
ing fifty-eight feet along Broadway and seventy feet along East 2lst
Street. Built in 1890-91, designed by the prominent firm of McKim, Mead &
White, and faced in Roman brick and marble, the building is liberally em-
bellished with terra-cotta and marble details. Except for the removal of
the first-story polished marble colonnade and fourth-story balconies, the
exterior of the building, including original one-over-one double-hung wood
sash windows, remains intact. The rich quality of the building’'s architec-
ture, designed by one of the country’s most prominent architectural firms,
makes it particularly notable within the district.

HISTORY

George Henry Warren (1823-92), an influential Director of the Union Trust
Company and guiding force behind the Metropolitan Opera, commissioned
McKim, Mead & White to design this building. It was erected in 1890-91 by
mason Michael Reid, who built several important buildings within the his-
toric district. Three years later, the original show windows on East 20th
Street and at the corner were replaced. In 1912 marble columns were removed
and the show windows which projected beyond the building line were set
back. The existing first story elevation dates from the mid-twentieth cen-
tury. Tenants, who were typical of the district, included sellers of
jewels, lace and lace curtains, upholstery, floor coverings, and dressmaker
supplies.
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Broadway Between East 20th Street and East 2lst Street (West Side)
continuation of . . . No. 903-907 Broadway

ARCHITECTURE

BROADWAY FACADE

The double-height base is composed of a recent metal-stone-and-glass store-
front with rectangular openings and, in the northernmost bay, a set of
metal-and-glass doors which appear to be original; surmounting this is a
marble second story which is punctuated in an ABBA rhythm, where A is a
rectangular window capped by a segmental pediment and flanked by intricate
consoles and B is a semi-circular arch with a console keystone and tripar-
tite window arrangement behind. A flat band with Greek key motive surmounts
the base.

The four-story midsection shifts the rhythm to ABAB, where A is a single,
rectangular window (except on the sixth, transitional, story which has a
round-arched window) and where B is a rectangular window flanked by narrow
rectangular openings (except on the sixth story where B has paired round-
arched windows.) All these windows are edged with terra-cotta quoining. The
third-story windows are topped by flat arches composed of decorated terra-
cotta panels. An intermediate dentiled cornice with embellished frieze sits
atop the windows and is broken by all but one of the fourth-story windows,
which have bracketed pediments. These windows are united, via spandrels
flanked by pilasters and decorated with embellished circles, to the brack-
eted and broken-pedimented windows. Another cornice, with a carved frieze,
divides the fifth and sixth stories. On the northernmost bay of the sixth
story, swags decorate the wall above the windows.

The top story of the building sits on a bundled string course and is
pierced by square window openings which alternate with rosette-enriched
disks and swags. Its dentiled and modillioned entablature features lions’
heads along the cornice and acanthus-leaf brackets.

The single bay of the chamfered corner duplicates the adjacent bay on
Broadway except that at the seventh story fluted pilasters edge the corners
and the disks are replaced by pendants.

EAST 20TH STREET FACADE

The details of this five-bay facade duplicate those on Broadway; however,
the rhythm employed above the first story is ABABA. On the second level a
large oculus surrounded by a wreath aligns with the middle bay.

NORTHERN ELEVATION

This elevation is a simple, brick wall with double-hung windows connecting

to a metal fire escape. Running along the northern edge of the roof, there

is a one-story clapboarded, flat-topped addition. It has two windows facing
north.
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Broadway Between East 20th Street and East 2lst Street (West Side)
continuation of . . . No. 903-907 Broadway

REAR WALL
This is a red brick wall with a chimney. The facade brick turns the corner
as do some of the details at the seventh story.

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

*1890-91: NB 533-1890 [Source: New Building Application]

1893: Alt 326-1893 [Source: Alteration Application]
New show windows installed.

Architect -- McKim, Mead & White

Owner -- George Henry Warren (Estate of)

1902: Alt 1109-1902 [Source: Alteration Application]
A "roof house" built and covered with galvanized iron.
Architect -- Warren & Wetmore Owner -- George Henry Warren (Estate of)

1912: Alt 1882-1912 [Source: Alteration Application]
All store windows beyond the building line were set back.
Architect -- Warren & Wetmore Owner -- George Henry Warren

1920: Alt 2851-1920 [Source: Alteration Application]
Among other changes, the stone colonnade at the first story was partially
removed.
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909 BROADWAY between East 20th Street and East 21st Street (West Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 849/10 in part]

TYPE STYLE

Converted Dwelling Late 19th c. commercial
ARCHITECT ORIGINAL OWNER

Unknown William Fairman

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: 1843 on
DESCRIPTION

This three-story brick converted dwelling is nineteen feet wide and situa-
ted at the middle of the block. Presently painted blue, it has undergone
substantial change to accommodate commercial uses. The first story has a
modern glass-and-metal storefront with a central entrance. The second-story
tripartite wood-framed show window of 1899 has a fixed central pane, fixed
transoms, and pivoting side panes. The three third-story openings are ori-
ginal; they have double-hung wood sash windows. There is a simple metal
cornice. (See also 911 Broadway.)

HISTORY

The structure was erected as a dwelling around 1843-44, but by 1874 an iron
arch girder replaced the extant columns of the first-story front. In 1888 a
new storefront was inserted by architects B. & W.B. Smith for owner George
H. Warren. Four years later, 909 Broadway, then housing a hairdresser and
apartments, was connected to 11 East 20th Street. The second-story front
wall was opened up in 1899 and both lower stories were again altered in
1906. Among the building’'s tenants, who were typical of the district, were
tailor Paul J. Bonwit and confectioner Ernest Greenfield. The existing
storefront appears to date from a 1951 renovation.

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

1874: Alt 46-1874 [Source: Alteration Docket]
First-story exterior columns removed and iron arch girder inserted.
Owner -- A. Trouttet Builder -- Charles Mettam

1888: Alt 1493-1888 [Source: Alteration Application]
Existing storefront replaced with a new one.
Architect -- B. & W.B. Smith Owner -- George H. Warren

1892: Alt 759-1892 [Source: Alteration Application]
Building connected to 11 East 20th Street via rear extension.
Architect -- W.G. Jones Owner -- George Henry Warren

1899: Alt 119-1899 [Source: Alteration Application]

Front wall on second story removed.
Architect -- F.D. Green Owner -- G.H. Warren (Estate of)
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Broadway Between East 20th Street and East 2lst Street (West Side)
continuation of . . . No. 909 Broadway

1906: Alt 1850-1906 [Source: Alteration Application]

Among other changes, wall at second story opened up for bay window with
cornice of galvanized iron.

Architect -- Robert W. Gardner Owner -- G.H. Warren (Estate of)

1951: Alt 677-1951 [Source: Alteration Application]

Existing storefront replaced with a new metal-and-glass storefront.
Architect -- Henry Z. Harrison Owner -- 903-911 Realty Corp.
Builder -- Miller & Weintraub
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911 BROADWAY between East 20th Street and East 21st Street (West Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 849/10 in part]

TYPE STYLE

Converted Dwelling Late 19th c. commercial
ARCHITECT ORIGINAL OWNER

Unknown Albert Horn

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: 1830s on

DESCRIPTION

This three-story brick converted dwelling is almost nineteen feet wide and
situated at the middle of the block. Presently painted blue, it has under-
gone substantial change to accommodate commercial use. The first story has
a large metal-and-glass storefront with a central entrance, roll-down
security gate, and boxlike awning, all of recent date. The second story is
opened up by a tripartite picture window, with wood sash, almost as wide as
the facade. The three third-story openings are original; they have double-
hung wood sash windows. There is a simple metal cornice. (See 909
Broadway.)

HISTORY

It appears that carpenter Albert Horn built this structure in the 1830s;
but in 1836 it was bought by William Fairman, who owned adjacent property.
During the early twentieth century, the former dwelling housed

P. Centemeri, a glove store. In 1906 architect Robert W. Gardner replaced
the show windows on the ground story, inserted a bay window into the
second story, and added a galvanized iron cornice.

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

1906: Alt 1850-1906 [Source: Alteration Application]
Show windows were replaced with new ones. Front of second story opened up
and replaced with a bay window.

Architect -- Robert Waterman Gardner
Owner -- George Henry Warren (Estate of)
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Broadway Between East 20th Street and East 2lst Street (West Side)
continuation of . . . No. 911 Broadway
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913 BROADWAY between East 20th Street and East 21st Street (West Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 849/68]

TYPE STYLE

Store neo-Grec

ARCHITECT ORIGINAL OWNER
Charles Wright Robert & Peter Goelet

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: 1874
DESCRIPTION

This two-story, heavily altered, neo-Grec store building, twenty-four feet
wide, is located in the middle of the block. It still exhibits at the
second story part of its original cast-iron front with attached columns,
molded and flattened arches with keystones, and diamond-shaped side panels.
The metal-framed fixed window panes with fixed transoms and hopper lower
portions are recent additions. The partly recessed first story is totally
of recent vintage. Its central window is flanked by stuccoed surfaces which
surround one glass door and one metal door. There is a sidewalk canopy at
the southernmost bay and a stuccoed parapet at the top of the facade.
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Broadway Between East 20th Street and East 21lst Street (West Side)
continuation of . . . No. 913 Broadway

HISTORY

The first structure on the site was a three-story dwelling built for
Gilbert Coutant circa 1838. It was purchased in 1846 by Peter Goelet
(1800-79), co-founder of the Chemical Bank and one of New York's weal-
thiest citizens. With his brother Robert (1809-79), a businessman who
greatly expanded the family "empire," Peter Goelet replaced the dwelling
with a five-story commercial building, designed in the neo-Grec style. The
architect, Charles Wright, had also designed similarly styled cast-iron
structures in other parts of the city. Among the building’s tenants, who
were characteristic of the district, were Louis Cohen & Company, fine furs;
two milliners; and a linen store.

In 1890 owner Hannah G. Gerry had contractors Hanlon & Hayman remove the
exterior flight of stairs from the building. In the ensuing years, the
storefront was altered several times. In 1934 architect William F. Staab
was hired by Charles F. Noyes to extensively alter the property; among
other changes, the top three stories were removed.

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

1890: Alt 1083-1890 [Source: Alteration Application]
New staircase built at front of building. Interior changes also included.
Owner -- Hannah G. Gerry Builder -- Hanlow & Hayman

1899: Alt 2310-1899 [Source: Alteration Application]

Among other changes, the show windows were replaced.

Architect -- Ralph Samuel Townsend Owner -- Eldridge T. Gerry
Builder -- List & Lumon

1934: Alt 2386-1934 [Source: Alteration Application]

The five-story building was reduced to a two-story building. New windows
were installed in the facade at the second story.

Architect -- William F. Staab Owner -- Charles F. Noyes

Builder -- G. Richard Davis & Co.
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continuation of . . . No. 913 Broadway
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915-919 BROADWAY between East 20th Street and East 21st Street (West Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 849/70]

BROADWAY BUILDING

TYPE STYLE

Store, Loft and Office Modern eclectic
ARCHITECT ORIGINAL OWNER
Joseph Martine Elk-Fried Company

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: 1925-26
SUMMARY

This twenty-story modern eclectic store, loft and office building, charac-
teristic of the later development phase of the district, is situated on the
southwest corner of East 2lst Street and Broadway, extending seventy-two
feet on Broadway and 128 feet on East 2lst Street. Designed by Joseph
Martine and built in 1925-26, it is faced in limestone and brick. Most of
the windows have one-over-one double-hung metal sash, but a few of the
original, three-over-three double-hung wood sash remain. Its height, ar-
ranged in a series of setbacks, corner location, and original storefronts
give this building a prominent position in the Broadway streetscape.
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Broadway Between East 20th Street and East 2lst Street (West Side)
continuation of . . . No. 915-919 Broadway

HISTORY

On the site of the Broadway Building stood a commercial building of six
stories and the Madison Square Hotel (later, the Aberdeen), a five-story
structure with a prominent mansard roof. The latter was designed by the
notable firm of D. & J. Jardine and housed the hotel from the late 1850s
until its demolition in 1924. In its ground story was the famous firm of
Park & Tilford, grocers.

Erected in 1925-26, the present building has had tenants typical of the
district, among whom has been a toy company.

ARCHITECTURE

BROADWAY FACADE
The Broadway Building is organized into a three-story base, an eight-story
midsection, and a nine-story top which is characterized by setbacks.

At its limestone base, the Broadway facade has four bays, identical except
for the modern metal-and-glass entrance (with metal canopy and ventilation
grille) at the first story of the southernmost bay. The remainder of this
section retains its original elements. At the first story, tripartite show
windows have paneled metal bulkheads and transoms (the side ones pivot),
shaded by canopies. At the second and third stories, metal spandrels spor-
ting draperies and urns separate tripartite window arrangements with fixed
central window panes flanked by one-over-one double-hung sash windows. A
simple cornice surmounts the base.

Above the base, except where noted, all windows have one-over-one double-
hung sash. The brick midsection is divided into end bays of paired
windows and a four-window-wide central bay which features spandrels of
recessed brick. A simple terra-cotta string course surmounts the mid-
section.

The brick top section is composed of a two-story lower segment; pilasters
with terra-cotta capitals and bases divide the bays. At the end bays paired
rectangular windows, recessed spandrels, and round-arched windows are
grouped within a terra-cotta arcade resting on pilasters. There are two
central bays of three windows each; these also feature the decorative span-
drel motif. This segment is surmounted by three setbacks, each of two
stories. These more or less retain the configuration of the central bays
below, including the thin piers which separate windows and (on the two up-
permost levels) replace the simple parapet with a corbeled one. At the cor-
ner, massing is arranged to form a tower.

The corner bay has a Tudor Revival entrance surround and a canopy which
shades a recent wood-and-glass revolving door. Each of the next three
stories has a large fixed pane in a wooden frame. Otherwise this bay du-
plicates the end bays of the Broadway facade.
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Broadway Between East 20th Street and East 2lst Street (West Side)
continuation of . . . No. 915-919 Broadway

EAST 21ST STREET FACADE

This facade is composed of five bays and a narrow strip at the western
edge. In the base at the four eastern bays, the show windows, second, and
third stories duplicate the arrangement of their Broadway counterparts,
except for the width of each bay. At the western bay and adjacent strip
there are (1) a recent metal-and-glass entrance with canopy capped by

three double-hung windows; (2) an original limestone Tudor Revival entrance
with recent, recessed metal-and-glass doors surrounded by ceramic tile and
a recent canopy; and (3) two stories of double-hung metal windows.

At the midsection, articulation resembles the Broadway facade, except that
here all bays are three windows wide.

At the twelfth and thirteenth stories, each end bay repeats the arcaded
motif twice and central bays stretch to encompass four bays. Similarities
continue on the uppermost stories.

For its entire height, the western strip has windowless rectangular open-
ings.

EASTERN ELEVATION
This narrow elevation is a continuation of the southern elevation.

SOUTHERN ELEVATION

The southern elevation is a wall of red brick with buff brick trim. It has
double-hung windows and a "shadow" which reveals the imprint of the now-
demolished third through fifth stories of the adjacent building, 913 Broad-

way.

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

*1925-26: NB 590-1924 [Source: New Building Docket]

1956: BN 1909-1956 [Source: Building Notice Application]
Among other changes, a new entrance was inserted at the Broadway facade.
Owner -- Metropolitan Life Insurance Company
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Broadway Between East 20th Street and East 21st Street (West Side)
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BROADWAY
Between East 21st Street and East 22nd Street
EAST SIDE

922 BROADWAY between East 21st Street and East 22nd Street (East Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 850/16]

TYPE STYLE

Altered Dwelling Italianate/Second Empire
ARCHITECT ORIGINAL OWNER

Unknown Jacob Cram

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: c. 1854
DESCRIPTION

This five-story altered dwelling, constructed during the first development
phase of the district, is located at the northeast corner of Broadway and
East 21st Street, extending twenty-two and half feet along Broadway and
ninety-seven feet on East 21lst Street. Above a modern glass and metal
storefront capped by an early cornice, are three stories faced in brick.
Each story has three square-headed two-over-two double-hung sash windows
topped by molded stone lintels. A cornice separates the fourth story from
the slate-shingled mansard roof, which contains the fifth story and fea-
tures three square-headed, two-over-two, double-hung sash windows in dor-
mers topped by triangular pediments. Fire escapes and platforms are
placed in front of the windows on the second through the fifth stories.

While the East 2lst Street facade has a modern glass and metal storefront
at the ground story, it retains seven cast-iron pilasters flanking the
window openings at the eastern end of the building. Although interrupted
by the infill toward the corner, the cornice on the Broadway facade con-
tinues on the East 21lst Street facade. Above this are three stories faced
in brick which changes in color and texture toward the eastern end. Each of
the three stories is pierced by square-headed, two-over-two double-hung
sash windows topped by molded stone lintels. Those at the second story are
replacements. The cornice above the fourth story wraps around from the
Broadway facade, setting off the slate-shingled mansard roof which fea-
tures two-over-two, double-hung sash dormer windows topped by triangular
pediments which alternate with decoratively embellished, brick chimneys.
Fire escapes and platforms are placed in front of the midsection of this
facade.
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Broadway Between East 21st Street and East 22nd Street (East Side)
continuation of . . . No. 922 Broadway

HISTORY

This structure was originally built as one of several rowhouses for Jacob
Cram around 1854. By 1882 when interior alterations were made to the
building, its use was already a hotel and boarding house, a change in
keeping with the middle development phase of the district. The mansard
roof had already been added and the building extended from sixty five to
ninety-seven feet. From 1882 to 1885, Salter’s Metropolitan Market was a
tenant. During the years 1898 to 1906, the Bancroft House Hotel was lo-
cated in this building. American Express had offices in the building from
the late 1870s until at least 1911.

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

1882: Alt 702-1882 [Source: Alteration Docket]

Upper floors partitioned; floor above store to be used as offices and sit-
ting room.

Owner -- Amos R. Eno Tenants -- John Salter & L. Bartlett

1919: Alt 519-1919 [Source: Alteration Application]
New storefront installed and new steps to store and basement constructed.
Architect -- Lena Kern Owner -- Lord Redfield Tenant -- Max Haber
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924 BROADWAY between East 2lst Street and East 22nd Street (East Side)
[Tax Map Block/Lot: 850/14 in part]

TYPE STYLE

Converted Rowhouse Mid-20th Cent. Commercial
ARCHITECT ORIGINAL OWNER

Unknown Jacob Cram

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: 1854/1950
DESCRIPTION

This four-story converted rowhouse, twenty feet wide and located toward
the middle of the block, shares a mid-20th century commercial facade with
number 926. It has a modern glass and metal store front at the first story.
Above this, the upper three stories are faced with brick now covered with
metal panels, and each has a wide, square-headed, metal-framed window
opening divided into four contiguous sections (those at the ends are
divided into three horizontal panels) topped by transoms. The building is
topped by a thin, plain metal band.

HISTORY

This structure was originally built as one of several rowhouses for Jacob
Cram around 1854. In 1880, 924 and 926 Broadway were joined, when the party
wall was replaced with cast-iron columns and girders. In 1921, among other
alterations, large windows in the second through the fourth stories were
installed. The present facade may date from 1950. Important tenants

located here have included the producers of furniture and interior decora-
tion, Kimbel & Cabus, in 1862-63, Wakefield Rattan Furniture in 1880, and
Westcott Express Company in 1911.

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDINGS INFORMATION

1880: Alt 270-1880 [Source: Alteration Docket]

Party wall replaced with cast-iron columns and girders. Two square posts in
the front were replaced by iron columns.

Owner -- Wakefield Rattan Co. Mason -- Robinson & Wallace

1921: Alt 3020-1921 [Source: Alteration Docket]

Among other alterations, large windows were installed at the front of the
second, third, and fourth stories.
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